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PROCEEDINGS RESUME ON 10 JUNE 2021 

CHAIRPERSON:   Good morning Mr Seleka,  good morning 

everybody.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Morn ing Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Are you ready? 

ADV SELEKA SC:   We are ready Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.    

ADV SELEKA SC:   Our wi tness today is  Mr Cl in ton Ephron.   

He is  – he is  go ing to  test i fy  by way of  a  v ideo l ink because 

he is  out  o f  the count ry and I  th ink  he wi l l  be  ready to  take 10 

e i ther  the oath or  a ff i rmat ion and then I  wi l l  exp la in  the  

purpose for  h is  appearance.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Good morning Mr Ephron.   Can you hear  

me? 

MR EPHRON:   Good morning Mr Chai rman.   Yes I  can –  

loud and c lear.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you.   P lease Regist rar  admin iste r  

the oath or  a ff i rmat ion.  

REGISTRAR:   P lease state your  fu l l  names fo r  the record.  

MR EPHRON:   C l in ton Mart in  Ephron.  20 

REGISTRAR:   Do you have any object ion to  tak ing the  

prescr ibed oath? 

MR EPHRON:   No.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you consider  the oath b ind ing on your  

conscience? 
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MR EPHRON:   Yes I  do.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you so lemnly swear that  the ev idence you 

wi l l  g ive wi l l  be the t ru th;  the who le t ru th and noth ing but  

the t ru th;  i f  so p lease ra ise your  r ight  hand and say,  so help 

me God.  

MR EPHRON:   So help me God.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you.   Yes Mr Seleka.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Thank you Cha i rperson.   Mr Ephron has 

been cal led to  – to  come back to  test i fy  before the 

commission.   He has done so previously but  he is  ca l led  10 

back as a resul t  o f  a l legat ions recent ly  – o r  vers ions 

recent ly  advanced before the commission par t icu lar ly  in  

regard to  what  took p lace pr ior  to  Glencore acqui r ing OCM 

– Opt imum Mine and thereaf ter  invoking the hardship c lause 

which is  found in  the coal  supply agreement  between Eskom 

and Glen – OCM at  the t ime.  

 There are cer ta in  vers ions of  par t icu la r ly  Mr Koko 

and Mr Br ian Molefe which we wish to  put  to  Mr Cl in ton 

Ephron in  o rder  for  h im to c la r i fy  to  the Chai rperson the  

posi t ion in  regard  to  Glencore and OCM at  the t ime.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay.    

ADV SELEKA SC:   There is  a  f i le  Chai rperson which we wi l l  

be us ing for  Mr Ephron’s s tatements which I  be l ieve he wi l l  

now conf i rm under oath.   The bundle is  – or  h is  – h is  

s tatements are found in  Exhib i t  U5A.    
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 Mr Ephron on your  s ide you would have been sent  

an e lect ronic copy of  th is  bundle.   You conf i rm having i t .  

MR EPHRON:   Yes I  have i t .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Thank you.  

MR EPHRON:   I  do – I  have i t .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Okay.   Your f i rs t  s ta tement  is  found on 

page 1 of  that  bundle.  

MR EPHRON:   Correct .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   And i t  runs up to  page 28 – up to  page 

28.    10 

MR EPHRON:   Yes that  is  correct .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   That  is  cor rect .   Above the name Cl in ton 

Mart in  Ephron there is  a  s ignature there – do you conf i rm 

that  to  be your  s ignature? 

MR EPHRON:   I  do.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   And I  know you would have conf i rmed 

the contents of  your  s tatement  in  your  f i rs t  appearance – 

just  to  complete the p ic tu re you do conf i rm the correctness 

of  the statement  – the contents of  your  s tatement .  

MR EPHRON:   Yes I  do.  20 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Chai rperson i f  we could have th is  

admi t ted as an Exhib i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  I  do not  know… 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Or  that  i t  is  has been… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Whether  we should do that .  
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ADV SELEKA SC:   We should do that .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Because th ings were done in  a  cer ta in  

way at  the beginn ing.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   In  the beginning okay.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You know the – the f i le  was marked as an  

exhib i t  as opposed to … 

ADV SELEKA SC:   I  am sure.  

CHAIRPERSON:   The actual  s tatements.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:   And maybe we should not  cause any 10 

confusion.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  obviously the statement  has been 

admi t ted and i t  is  just  that  i t  was not  marked as an  Exhib i t  

on i t s  own.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So maybe we should just  leave wi th  the 

past  the way i t  is .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   There is  just  two more of  h is  s tatements.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja I  th ink probably we just  have to  refer  to  20 

them as the statement  of  such and such a date and 

statement  of  such and such a date.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Okay.   Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You know we should not  have had the f i le  

as an exhib i t .   We should have had the f i le  as a Bund le.  



10 JUNE 2021 – DAY 408 
 

Page 7 of 106 
 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:   And then the statements ins ide the  f i le  as 

exhib i ts .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   As exhib i ts .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.    

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So – so the – the statements even i f  i t  

might  not  have been expressly  sa id they have been 

admi t ted.   They – or  maybe by impl icat ion i t  is  just  that  they 

are not  marked as  exhib i t s .   Ja.   Okay.  10 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Thank you Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.    

ADV SELEKA SC:   Mr Ephron le t  us do the same wi th  your  

last  two statements – the second is  found on page 322.    

MR EPHRON:   Yes that  is  cor rect  except  as you wi l l  note on  

the th i rd  s tatement  we cor rected someth ing in  the  second 

statement .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Cor rect .   So the second statement  s tar ts  

on page 322 i t  ends on page 326.    

MR EPHRON:   Correct .  20 

ADV SELEKA SC:   The statement  is  dated 11 February  

2021.   You see that .  

MR EPHRON:   I  do.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   And there is  a  s ignature there above the 

name Cl in ton Mar t in  Ephron do you conf i rm that  to  be your  
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s ignature? 

MR EPHRON:   Yes I  do.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Do you a lso conf i rm the cor rec tness of  

the contents of  the statement?  

MR EPHRON:   Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Thank you.  

MR EPHRON:   Save as to  the er ror  that  was made and i t  

was cor rected in  s tatement  3.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Okay ta lk ing of  s tatement  3 that  i s  found 

on page 327.    10 

MR EPHRON:   That  is  correct .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   The statement  is  dated 14 Apr i l  2021 – 

you see that?  

MR EPHRON:   I  do.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   I t  is  one page s tatement .  

MR EPHRON:   Correct .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   You conf i rm the s ignature there  to  be 

yours?  

MR EPHRON:   Yes I  do.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   And you conf i rm the correctness of  the 20 

contents of  the statement .  

MR EPHRON:   Yes I  do.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Chai r  the statements wi l l  a lso be – or  

we beg that  they be admi t ted as par t  o f  th is  Exhib i t  5A 

Chai rperson.   Shal l  we proceed Chai r?  Shal l  we proceed 
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Chai r?  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sor ry.    

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  had not  seen th is… 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Oh the two statements.  

CHAIRPERSON:   The state – statement  at  327 on – I  may 

have seen i t  or  not  – read i t  so I  was just  qu ick ly  having a 

look at  i t .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.   Mr Ephron wi l l  expla in  i t  as wel l .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.   Okay I  have just  done so.  10 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay there – so  you have deal t  wi th  a l l  

three of  them.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes Chai r  thank you – yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Maybe I  could just  ask th is  

quest ion and maybe i t  is  a  quest ion you are going to  sta r t  

wi th .   Mr Ephron is  there a par t icu lar  reason why your  

s tatements were under oath – th is  was ra ised by both Mr 

Br ian Molefe and Mr Koko who said  that  they were requi red 

to  submi t  s tatements under oa th and they submi t ted  20 

statements under  oath that  is  a ff idavi t s  but  Mr  Ephron kept  

on  just  sending s tatements that  were not  under  oath.   Was 

there a par t i cu lar  reason? 

MR EPHRON:   Mr Chai rperson no there was no par t icu la r  

reason we were just  asked to submi t  a  s tatement .  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR EPHRON:   But  I  am happy to  now conf i rm that  they are  

– I  am happy to now conf i rm that  they are under oath .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja okay a l l  r ight .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr Seleka.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Thank you Chai r.   Mr Ephron just  by way 

for  the – a br ie f  background in  –  on the facts be fore us 

there are th ree ent i t ies.   There is  Glencore,  Opt imum Coal  

Hold ings and Opt imum Coal  Mine PTY LTD.   Cou ld you 10 

expla in to  us what  your  posi t ion was in  re la t ion to  the three 

ent i t ies?  

MR EPHRON:   Wel l  so I  was – I  was employed by Glencore 

South Af r i ca  and Glencore purchased approximate ly  67% of  

OCH and OCH in turn held 100% of  the shares of  OCM.  So 

OCM was a whol ly  subsid ia ry of  OCH and my pos i t ion at  

OCH was I  was a Di rector  and effec t ive CEO of  OCH.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.   And OCH was a South  Af r ican 

based company.  

MR EPHRON:   Yes – as – yes that  is  cor rect .   OCH South 20 

Af r ican based at  the – in i t ia l l y  l is ted and then unl i s ted.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

MR EPHRON:   Publ ic  and then pr ivate.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So you sa id you were effect ive ly  the CEO 

of  OCH – you say effect i ve ly  that  suggests to  me that  you 
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may not  have been appointed as such on paper but  in  terms 

of  what  you d id pract ica l ly  you p layed the ro le  of  a  CEO.  

MR EPHRON:   No.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Is  that  correct .  

MR EPHRON:   I  was – I  was appointed as CEO – I  was – Mr  

Chai rperson I  wi l l  correct  that .   I  was appointed as CEO.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So you were the CEO of  OCH.  

MR EPHRON:   That  is  correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.   And at  Glencore because you star ted  

by saying you were employed by G lencore – what  was your  10 

posi t ion in  Glencore? 

MR EPHRON:   So in  Glencore I  was the head of  coal  

t rad ing and coal  operat ions in  South  Af r ica.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

MR EPHRON:   And I  was a lso  a d i rector  on the local  

Glencore South A f r ican subsid ia ry.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay and in  OCM did you have any a  

posi t ion or  not?  

MR EPHRON:   Yes wel l  e ffect i ve ly  I  would have been – and 

th is  i s  why I  used the word effect ive previously is  e ffect i ve ly  20 

I  would have been the CEO of  OCM as wel l  be ing the CEO 

of  OCH as the hold ing company.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MR EPHRON:   So a l l  the companies  that  were underneath  

the umbrel la  of  OCH which is  Opt imum Coal  Hold ings I  was 
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–  I  was the CEO of  a l l  the companies.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You have – you have gone back to  us ing 

effect ive ly.   Would my ear l ier  quest ion then be ( ta lk ing over 

one another ) .  

MR EPHRON:   I  use i t  –  I  use  i t  e ffect ive because – 

because Mr Chai rperson I  am not  100% cer ta in  that  for  

every under ly ing whol ly  owned subsid iary I  was appointed  

as CEO.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Okay.  

MR EPHRON:   I  would have to  check that .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

MR EPHRON:   So we could – we could cer ta in ly  check that .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR EPHRON:   But  there were a number of  subsid iar ies  

under OCH and I  am – I  am not  en t i re ly  sure whether  I  was 

overseeing … 

CHAIRPERSON:   Appointed yes.  

MR EPHRON:   Appointed CEO of  each ind iv idual  whol ly  

owned subsid ia ry of  OCH of  which there were a number of .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja of  course they were  – our  in terest  i s  20 

more on Glencore ,  OCH and OCM.  But  you say in  regard  to  

OCM you are  not  sure whether  you were appointed CEO but  

at  a  pract ica l  level  you p layed the ro le  of  CEO,  is  that  

correct?  

MR EPHRON:   That  is  100% correc t .  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l l  r ight .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Thank you Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr Seleka.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Mr Ephron are  you able to  see us  here 

in  the hear ing venue.  

MR EPHRON:   I  can see you both when you speaking yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Okay.   Thank you.  

MR EPHRON:   Thank you.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   So we have gone through your  

s tatement  – the f i rs t  s ta tement  in  which you set  out  the  10 

deta i ls  about  how Glencore came to purchase or  acqui re 

OCM and the t ime per iod wi th in  which that  t ransact ion took 

p lace.   So is  i t  correct  that  th is  took p lace in  the  per iod 

between June 2011 and March 2012.  

MR EPHRON:   Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Just  te l l  us  – or  just  re lay  to  the 

Chai rperson the ent i t y  that  Glencore was actual l y  acqui r ing 

was i t  OCH or  was i t  OCM or  both of  them.  

MR EPHRON:   Wel l  the – i t  was OCH and to re i tera te OCH 

owned 100% of  the shares of  OCM.   So buying the shares of  20 

OCH you would ef fect i ve ly  own the shares of  OCM.  

 OCH was just  a  hold ing  company w i th  subsid iar ies in  

i t .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.   In  that  per iod June 2011 to March 

2012 were you the CEO I  mean in  i ts  –  sorry rather  an  
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employee of  Glencore? 

MR EPHRON:   Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   And d i rector  in  Glencore.  

MR EPHRON:   Yes Glencore ’s  local  subsid iary yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   So at  the t ime of  the acquis i t ion – wel l  

you can te l l  the Chai rperson whether  or  not  th is  is  cor rect .   

A t  the t ime of  acquis i t ion of  OCH you became the CEO and 

d i rector  in  OCH.  

MR EPHRON:   Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   So  f rom day – f rom the t ime of  10 

acquis i t ion.  

MR EPHRON:   Yes once the deal  was effect i ve and c losed 

then I  got  appointed as – as CEO. 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Okay.  

MR EPHRON:   And d i rector.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   So the fo l lowing aspect  or  facts  wi l l  fa l l  

w i th in  your  knowledge as to  the reasons why Glencore d id  

not  do a due d i l igence when i t  acqu i red OCH.  

MR EPHRON:   Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Can you expla in to  the Chai rperson what  20 

the reason was fo r  Glencore not  conduct ing a due d i l igence.  

MR EPHRON:   So Advocate Seleka i f  I  may cor rect  you.   We 

d id not  not  do  a due d i l igence we d id a reasonably 

extensive due d i l igence and I  can point  you to  my paragraph 

14 I  am just  go ing to  see exact ly  where i t  is  on my – on my 



10 JUNE 2021 – DAY 408 
 

Page 15 of 106 
 

in i t ia l  s ta tement .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay i t  is  paragraph – i t  is  paragraph 14.  

MR EPHRON:   F ind the page.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Of  page 3.   I t  is  paragraph 14 of  page 3 in  

th is  bundle where  you kept  ta lk ing about  a comprehensive… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Cor rect .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Due d i l igence.  

MR EPHRON:   Cor rect .    Cor rect  so – so what  I  – just  to  

g ive you some h isto ry here.   We – we speci f ica l l y  ment ion 

that  we d id not  do a comprehensive due d i l igence but  i t  is  10 

worth not ing the fo l lowing.  

 OCH was a l is ted  company and had l is ted one year  

pr ior  to  the commencement  of  the Glencore Group of  

Companies star t ing to  acqui re the shares in  OCH which 

meant  the fo l lowing.  

 This is  very important .   In  order  to  l i s t  on the 

Johannesburg Stock Exchange OCH at  the t ime would have 

had to put  out  a  pre- l i s t ing statement  and they d id so and i t  

was a 300 page statement  which inc luded a  recent  

competent  person’s repor t ,  a  recent  independent  technica l  20 

repor t  and an independent  competent  person’s repor t  o f  the 

mater ia l  assets o f  OCH by a company ca l led SRK which is  

an independent  company.  

 So a l l  th is  in format ion together  wi th  the in format ion 

that  Glencore had through i ts  knowledge of  the indust ry 



10 JUNE 2021 – DAY 408 
 

Page 16 of 106 
 

would have a l lowed us to  prepare  a due d i l igence and to  

per fo rm a due d i l igence which was suff ic ient  under the  

c i rcumstances and in  associated – an associated wi th  the 

r isk that  we were  prepared to  take  and I  wi l l  expla in  that  a  

l i t t le  b i t  la te r  because I  am sure that  i s  a  quest ion  that  i s  

go ing to  be asked is  why was i t  not  done.  

 But  the reason why and I  wi l l  get  there but  fo r  now 

you – one needs to  understand tha t  there was a  s ign i f icant  

amount  of  in format ion that  was avai lab le to  us in  o rder  fo r 

us to  run models  and do a very good assessment  of  the 10 

va lue of  th is  company.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Ja were you –  were you reading f rom 

somewhere – fu rn ish ing the deta i l s?  

MR EPHRON:   No I  was not  reading f rom – I  was not  

reading.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja he was not  reading ja .  

MR EPHRON:   From anywhere but  –  I  was not  read ing I  do  

recal l  the facts at  the t ime that  a  –  we used the word non-

comprehensive because we could  not  go in  and k ick  the 

tyres of  every s ing le vehic le  or  every s ing le borehole in  the  20 

ground but  we had suff ic ient  in format ion in  order  to  g ive us  

a very reasonable understanding of  the company and i ts  

va lue thereto.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Ja.   I  see that  in  that  paragraph 14 of  

your  f i rs t  s tatement  in  –  on page 3.  
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MR EPHRON:   Huh-uh.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   You do say tha t  Glencore was not  ab le  

to  undertake a comprehensive due d i l igence exerc ise in   

par t icu lar  Glencore only had  publ ic ly  avai lab le in fo rmat ion  

regard ing C – the  CSA and i t  on ly  knew the durat ion  vo lume 

to be suppl ied and pr ice per  tonnage provided by the CSA.   

Glencore d id not  for  example  know how any pr ice  

adjustment  mechanisms in  the CSA worked.  

 Wel l  le t  us see whether  you could answer th is  – th is  

a l legat ion that  Glencore would  have fa i led to  do a  10 

comprehensive due d i l igence as you state in  your  – in  your  

s tatement  because Glencore had a connect ion w i th  the  

current  President  Mr Ramaphosa and that  Glencore  

in tended to leverage h is  in f luence in  order  to  negot ia te a 

pr ice increase wi th  Eskom once the acquis i t ion of  OCH had 

taken p lace.   What  would be your  comment  to  that?  

MR EPHRON:   I  th ink that  that  a l legat ion is  p reposterous 

and I  –  I  cannot  understand how and why someone would 

th ink such a th ing .  

 The reason why we d id not  do a comprehensive due 20 

d i l igence is  the fo l lowing and I  would l ike to  point  you to  my 

second statement  and we are going  to  have to  go to  page … 

ADV SELEKA SC:   I t  is  page 322 on the hard copy.  

MR EPHRON:   Thank – thank you very much.   Page 322 and 

paragraph – paragraph 6.   323  
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ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes on the – on the sof t  copy – thank 

you that  is  correc t .  

MR EPHRON:   Cor rect .   So le t  us just  go back one step.   

Why d id we not  do a comprehensive due d i l igence.   This is  

–  th is  is  not  an uncommon st rategy when procur ing a 

company.   One has to  assess the r i sk.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sor ry – I  am sorry.  

MR EPHRON:   Associated wi th  not  do ing a comprehensive… 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sor ry Mr Ephron you sa id  323 is  

there a par t i cu lar  paragraph that  you want  me to look at  as  10 

you g ive ev idence/  

MR EPHRON:   Paragraph 6.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l l  r ight .   Cont inue.  

MR EPHRON:   So there are two mechanisms in  terms of  

buying a l is ted company – there are two ways in  wh ich one 

can do i t .    

 One can approach the company d i rect ly  and at tempt  

to  buy the shares f rom the company once they approach the  

end of  the i r  shareholders or  you can approach the  

shareholders d i rect l y  and th rough a ser ies of  pr ivate 20 

t ransact ions obviously through the market  you would be  

able to  secure a cer ta in  amount  of  sharehold ing in  the  

company.  

 So in  – the reason why we d id not  approach OCH 

di rect ly  was because had we done so OCH would have had 
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to  put  out  a  publ ic  not ice,  a  sense announcement  that  i ts  

share pr ice could be affected as a resul t  o f  a  cer ta in  

t ransact ion.    

 So we – we said  in  order  to  ensure that  the pr ice  

remained compet i t ive and we knew that  there was 

potent ia l ly  a  compet i t ive process out  there – a number of  

prospect ive buyers were in terested  we e lected to  approach 

ind iv idual  shareholders d i rect l y.  

 So as a resul t  we could not  enter  in to a non-

d isc losure agreement  and go ahead wi th  the company and 10 

k ick every tyre we fe l t  that  we had suff ic ient  in fo rmat ion,  

suff i c ient  knowledge about  the  company through our  

indust ry knowledge and in  addi t ion the pre- l is t ing sta tement  

which I  have previously ment ioned which was 300 pages 

long gave a substant ia l  amount  o f  in format ion around the  

company.  

 So we d id not  k ick the ty res.   We d id not  know every 

s ing le asset  wi th in  th is  company but  we cer ta in ly  had a 

pret ty  good understanding.  

 In  going to  your  quest ion Mr Seleka there is  not  an 20 

io ta of  ev idence that  po ints to  the fact  that  Glencore in  any 

way wanted to  re ly  on a re la t ionship wi th  Mr Ramaphosa as  

our  shareholder  in  order  to  change the cont ract  pr ice.   I t  is  

r id icu lous.    

 There is  –  we can show I  am – you – the commission  
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has in terv iewed a  number of  Eskom di rectors,  a  number of  

Eskom employees past  and present  and nowhere has i t  ever  

come up that  Mr Ramaphosa was involved in  any d iscussion  

or  negot ia t ion around the CSA of  OCM.  

 I  go one step fu r ther.   In  paragraph 9 on page 324 I  

would l ike to  p lease read i t  out .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes do.  

MR EPHRON:    

“ I  never  asked Mr Ramaphosa to in tervene 

on behal f  o f  OCH or  OCM in any mat te rs  10 

re la t ing to  Eskom or  the CSA and to the best  

o f  my knowledge and recol lect ion she never  

d id  so. ”  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Were you … 

MR EPHRON:   So we st rongly deny th is  a l legat ion.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.   Were you – were you personal ly  

involved and d i rect ly  wi th  Eskom in the – in  regard  to  the  

Coal  Supply Agreement?  

MR EPHRON:   Yes every step of  the way.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Ja.   Now the acquis i t ion was completed  20 

in  March 2012 you say in  your  s tatement  which you have 

now conf i rmed under oath and you do say that  I  th ink i t  i s  

around July 2013 OCM decided to invoke the  hardship  

c lause.   That  is  a  l i t t le  over  a year  la te r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Maybe before you go that  far  Mr Seleka.   
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Mr Ephron is  i t  in  2011 or  ear ly  2012 that  OCH acqui red 

OCM? 

MR EPHRON:   Mr Chai rperson i t  was a ser ies of  

t ransact ions.   So there were a number of  t ransact ions that  

we entered in to.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR EPHRON:   Between June 2011 and March 2012.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   So the – the . . . [word cut ]  a t  wh ich  

you cou ld  say –  i t  cou ld  be  sa id  tha t  the  acqu is i t ion  o f  

OCM by OCH was comple te .   Wou ld  i t  have been in  March  10 

2012,  in  your  v iew? 

MR EPHRON :    So  jus t  to  cor rec t ,  Mr  Cha i rman.   I t  was not  

the  acqu is i t ion  o f  OCM of  OCH.   I t  was the  acqu is i t ion  by  

G lencore ,  LEC(? )  She l l  and i t s  o ther  shareho lde rs  tha t  

purchased –  tha t  f ina l i sed the  purchases o f  OCH by  

March 2012.   Cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  bu t  as  I  unders tood the  pos i t ion .   I  

thought  ear l ie r  on  you sa id  G lencore  acqu i red  OCH or  i s  

the  pos i t ion  tha t  OCH . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    Yes,  tha t  was . . . [ in te rvenes]  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .OCH a l ready  he ld  100% of  shares in  

OCM before  G lencore  approached? 

MR EPHRON :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  okay,  a l r igh t .   So OCH 

. . . [ in te rvenes]  
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MR EPHRON :    Yes,  Mr  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .OCH was . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .a t  a l l  mater ia l  t imes in  cont ro l  o f  OCM 

and then Glencore  jus t  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    That  i s  co r rec t  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . the  shares?  I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR EPHRON :    O f  OCH.  

CHAIRPERSON :    O f  OCH.  

MR EPHRON :    That  i s  co r rec t .  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  okay.   No,  no .   But  the  po in t  in  t ime 

when i t  cou ld  be  sa id  or  ra ther  le t  me say.   What  i s  the  

po in t  in  t ime when Glencore  had acqu i red  OCH,  the  shares  

in  OCH? 

MR EPHRON :    I  th ink  you are  re fer r ing  to  a t  what  t ime 

Glencore  and i t s  par tners  had cont ro l  o f  OCH? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  tha t  i s  wha t  I  am ta lk ing  about .   Ja ,  

had cont ro l .  

MR EPHRON :    That  wou ld  have been in  and  around  

March 2012.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r igh t .   Do you know what  

Mr  Ramaphosa ’s  pos i t ion  was in  tha t  regard ,  whe ther  in  

government  o r  in  the  ru l ing  par ty?  

MR EPHRON :    A t  tha t  po in t  in  t ime,  my reco l lec t ion  was 

tha t  he  was not  invo lved in  government .  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   And then in  the  par ty,  was he  

a l ready Deputy  Pres ident  o r  what?  

MR EPHRON :    He on ly. . .   No,  no .   He on ly  –  my 

reco l lec t ion  and I  rea l l y  –  I  do  no t  have exact  da tes  bu t  

when Mr  Ramaphosa d ivested  h i s  in te res t  in  a l l  h is  money  

ventures ,  th is  one inc luded,  was in  paragraph 13  o f  my 

f i rs t  s ta tement  and tha t  i s  on  the  2n d  o f  May 2014 .   So i t  

wou ld  have come a f te r  tha t .   Mr  Ramaphosa wou ld  have  

become Deputy  P res ident  on ly  a f te r  tha t  da tes .    

CHAIRPERSON :    That  i s  Deputy  Pres ident  o f  the  count ry  10 

bu t  what  about  Deputy  Pres ident  o f  the  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    [ Ind is t inc t ]  

CHAIRPERSON :    What  about  the  Deputy  P res iden t  o f  the  

par t y?   Can you reca l l  when he became tha t?  

MR EPHRON :    My reco l lec t ion  is  tha t  he  was not  invo l ved  

a t  a l l  in  po l i t i cs  p r io r  to  h is  tak ing  up  o f  Deputy  Pres idency  

o f  the  count ry  bu t  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR EPHRON :    . . . I  am sure  these  fac ts  wou ld  be  ab le  to  

eas i l y  ver i f y  tha t .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    I  th ink  the  in fo rmat ion  in  the  pub l i c  

domain  wou ld  be  tha t  he  was e lec ted  Deputy  Pres ident  o f  

the  pa r ty  a t  the  Mangaung Confe rence in  December  2012.   

Mangaung Conference o f  the  ru l ing  par ty  in  2012.   I  th ink  

tha t  i s  my reco l lec t ion ,  jus t  f rom pub l ic  domain .   Does tha t  
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sound w i th  you or  you do not  know? 

MR EPHRON :    I  cannot  –  I  rea l l y  cannot  conf i rm tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes .  

MR EPHRON :    But  I  jus t  –  I  seem to  reca l l  tha t  when 

Mr  Ramaphosa was go ing  to  t ake  up tha t  pos i t ion  o f  

Deputy  Pres ident  o f  the  count ry,  he  d ivested  h imse l f  o f  h is  

m in ing  and,  in  fac t ,  a l l  h is  bus iness in te res ts  in  South  

A f r i ca .   So tha t  is  what  I  seem to  reca l l .   I  do  no t  seem to  

reca l l  any th ing  e lse .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  we l l ,  he  wou ld  have become – he  10 

became Deputy  Pres ident  o f  the  count ry  a f te r  the  2014 

e lec t ions.  

MR EPHRON :    Yes,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  tha t  m ight  t ie  up  w i th  your  s ta tement  

in  paragraph 13 o f  your  s ta tement .  

MR EPHRON :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr  Se leka?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I s  my reco l lec t ion  about  Mangaung  

cor rec t?  20 

ADV SELEKA SC :    I t  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.   The date  f rom the  

Pres ident ’s  own a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    H is  e lec t ion  as  –  be ing  e lec ted  as  the  

Deputy  Pres ident  o f  the  ANC is  18  December  2012.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  okay,  a l r igh t .   Now,  Mr  Ephron ,  go ing  

back to  the  non-comprehens ive  due d i l igence exe rc ise  as  I  

unders tand i t  tha t  you say was under taken by  G lencore .   

You,  obv ious ly,  d id  see the  coa l  supp ly  ag reement  tha t  you  

wou ld  be  tak ing  over  f rom –  when you acqu i red  OCH and 

OCM.   I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR EPHRON :    Cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Now,  I  no te  tha t  in  paragraph 14 o f  

your  f i rs t  s ta tement ,  you say you d id  no t ,  fo r  examp le  –  or  

G lencore  d id  no t ,  fo r  example ,  know how any pr ice  10 

ad jus tment  mechan isms in  the  coa l  supp ly  agreement  

worked.   Why d id  G lencore  no t  f ind  ou t  how tha t  those  

mechan isms worked?  I  wou ld  have thought  tha t  wou ld  be  

. . . [ ind is t inc t ]  

MR EPHRON :    Because . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . reasonab le (?) .  

MR EPHRON :    Yes,  because we –  because tha t  

in fo rmat ion  was  not  d isc losed in  any o f  the  prev ious  

s ta tements  or  pub l i c ly  ava i lab le  i n fo rmat ion  and there fore  

we cou ld  no t  have known tha t .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Now,  d id  you say you d id  no t  approach,  

tha t  i s  G lencore ,  d id  no t  approach  OCH. . .  OCM d i rec t l y  as  

a  company but  i t  approached shareho lde rs  p r iva te ly?   I s  

tha t  cor rec t?  

MR EPHRON :    Cor rec t .   That  i s  co r rec t .  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   And you say tha t  was because i f  

you approach the  company d i rec t l y,  tha t  wou ld  have  

t r iggered some not ice  tha t  wou ld  have to  be  g i ven and tha t  

wou ld  upset  the  share  pr i ces .   I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR EPHRON :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   So,  bu t  you d id  have s igh t  o f  the  

coa l  supp ly  ag reement .   I s  tha t  cor rec t?   You jus t  d id  no t  

know how the  mechan isms worked? 

MR EPHRON :    No,  tha t  i s  incor rec t .    

CHAIRPERSON :    You d id  no t  know? 10 

MR EPHRON :    No.   So we on ly  wou ld  have had –  we d id  

no t  have s igh t  o f  the  coa l  supp ly  agreement .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR EPHRON :    We wou ld  on l y  have had s igh t  o f  de ta i l s  in  

the  competence  person ’s (?)  repor t  o f  the  coa l  supp ly  

agreement ,  such as ,  vo lume,  dura t ion  and pr i ce .    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Does tha t  mean tha t  tha t  was jus t  

one agreement  tha t  you d id  no t  have s igh t  have tha t  you  

wou ld ,  in  e f fec t ,  be  tak ing  over  o r  i s  the  pos i t ion  tha t  you  

d id  no t  have s igh t  o f  any agreements  tha t  you wou ld  be  20 

tak ing  over  when –  a f te r  acqu i r ing  OCM? 

MR EPHRON :    We wou ld  no t  have had s igh t  o f  any 

conf ident ia l  agreements  tha t  OCH wou ld  have had .   On ly  

the  main  de ta i l s  o f  s ign i f i can t  cont rac ts  and dea ls  tha t  

OCH had.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  i t  sounds  s t range to  me.   I  th ink 

you sa id  i t  i s  no rmal  to  do  th ings th is  way but  i t  sounds  

s t range to  me because . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    No,  I  . . . [ in te rvenes ]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Or  d id  you  not?   Am I  a t t r ibu t ing  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    . . . to  say  –  no ,  I  d id  no t  say  i t  was normal .   

I  jus t  sa id  i t  happens . . . [ in te rvenes ]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh . . . [ in te rvenes ]  

MR EPHRON :    . . . tha t  po ten t ia l  acqu i re rs  o f  the  company 10 

do not  go  d i rec t l y  to  a  company.   So le t  met  jus t  shed a  

l i t t le  b i t  o f  l i gh t .   I f  you  go d i rec t l y  to  a  company 

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  p lease do.  

MR EPHRON :    . . . to  the  board ,  the  board  then may tu rn  

around and say,  you know,  why wou ld  we do a  dea l  w i th  

one perspect ive  buyer.   Le t  us  open th i s  up  to  a  tender  

p rocess.   Le t  us  look a t  the  en t i re  market .   Le t  us  look a t  

po ten t ia l l y  the  be t te r  va lue .   So  by  go ing  d i rec t l y  to  a  

company,  i t  i s  a  s t ra tegy.   I f  you  can s ign  exc lus i v i t y  w i th  a 20 

company then maybe i t  i s  a  good s t ra tegy to  take  bu t  i f  you  

cannot ,  and we d id  no t  fee l  tha t  we cou ld ,  then i t  wou ld  

have opened up  a  so r t  o f  a  Pandora ’s  box i n  te rms o f  

po ten t ia l  compet i t ion .   So we fe l t  tha t  the  s t ra tegy was 

more  prudent  to  go  d i rec t l y  to  shareho lders  tha t  own the  
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shares  in  OCH and a f fec t  t ransact ions w i th  those 

shareho lders .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MR EPHRON :    We have done i t  be fore  a t  G lencore .   Th i s  

i s  no t  the  f i rs t  t ime tha t  we have done such a  t ransac t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Yes,  okay.   No,  I  unders tand.   I  

was ac tua l l y  pu t t ing  someth ing  to  you tha t  you had not  sa id  

tha t  i s  usua l  bu t  you say –  I  th ink  the  l ine  be tween what  

you sa id  and what  I  was ac tua l l y  pu t t ing  to  you is  qu i te  

f ine .   You say i t  does happen and say i t  i s  common,  the  10 

approach to  the  shareho lders  as  opposed to  approach ing  

the  company.   Okay,  a l r igh t .    

MR EPHRON :    Cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Now,  i t  –  one o f  the  reasons,  cer ta in l y  

f rom my perspec t ive ,  i t  was impor tan t  tha t  you be  ca l led  

back is  tha t ,  cer ta in ly,  when you gave ev idence and  maybe  

when o ther  w i tnesses gave ev idence,  I  had th i s  fee l ing  tha t  

OCM,  G lencore ,  m ight  have been t rea ted  ra ther  ha rsh l y  o r  

un fa i r l y  o r  maybe too  f i rm ly  by  Eskom when you  invoked 

the  hardsh ip  c lause.    20 

 And,  o f  course ,  when Mr  Br ian  Mole fe  came and  

gave ev idence and you might  have  heard  h im or  you might  

had the  chance  to  e i ther  l i s ten  or  watch  or  read h is  

ev idence.   He re fer red  to  someth ing  tha t  I  sa id  a t  some 

s tage and I  cannot  remember  whether  i t  was when you 
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gave ev idence or  somebody e l se ,  when I  quest ioned why 

Glencore  had no t  done a  due d i l igence but  maybe w i th  

what  you a re  say ing  now why d id  i t  no t  done a  

comprehens ive  due d i l igence because you say i t  d id  do  a  

cer ta in  type o f  due d i l igence.   I t  is  no t  as  i f  i t  d id  no t  do  i t  

a l l ,  you  know.    

 Now,  bu t  when Mr  Mole fe  gave ev idence,  he ,  in  

e f fec t ,  sa id  –  no t  in  so  many words bu t  he  was send ing  a  

message tha t  say,  G lencore ,  OCM do not  deserve  any 

sympathy.   To  say the  least ,  they  pu t  themse lves i n to  th is  10 

pos i t ion .   They d id  no t  do  a  due d i l igence.   Maybe we  

shou ld  say d id  no t  do  a  comprehens ive  due d i l igence.    

 They ente red in to  –  they took over  a  coa l  supp ly  

agreement  tha t  had th is  c lause about  p r ice  and they then  

compla ined tha t  th is  p r ice  was br ing ing  them hardsh ip  and 

they wanted Eskom to  increase the  pr ice  qu i te  d ras t ica l l y.   

And he sa id :   I  re fused because i t  was go ing  to  be  

un jus t i f ied  fo r  me to  ge t  Eskom to  increase the  pr ice  l i ke  

th is .    

 Bu t  he ,  h is  ev idence,  together  w i th  tha t  o f  Mr  Koko  20 

when the  two,  a t  leas t ,  a re  read together,  a l so  says bu t  

hang on.   I f  G lencore ,  OCM fe l t  tha t  there  was unfa i rness 

in  us  s t i ck ing  to  the  pr ice  tha t  was in  the  agreement ,  the 

agreement  had a  way fo r  them to  ge t  a  re l ie f .   The 

agreement  sa id  you can invoke the  hardsh ip  c lause,  wh ich  
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they  d id  invoke,  bu t  i t  says  you –  i f  there  i s  no  ag reement ,  

you can go to  a rb i t ra t ion .   Take arb i t ra t ion  to  i t s  f ina l i t y  

and i f  the  arb i t ra to r  who wou ld  be  a  neut ra l  person  th inks  

tha t  yes  there  has been harshness on you,  re l ie f  wou ld  be  

granted.    

 And they were  say ing  bu t  a t  G lencore ,  OMC,  

a l though the  invoked the  hardsh ip  c lause and a l though a t  

some s tage they took s teps to  pursue the  arb i t ra t ion  rou te  

they never  pursued up to  i t s  ac t .   And Mr  Koko:   

Cha i rperson,  do  you know why they d id  no t  do  tha t?   I t  i s  10 

because they knew they had no case because the  

agreement  –  or  I  do  no t  know –  maybe re fe r r ing  to  the  

se t t lement  agreement  tha t  they re fer red  to  –  de f ined what  

cou ld  –  what  was  exc luded f rom the  hardsh ip  c lause .    

 So he says they knew they d id  no t  have a  case o f  

any hardsh ip .   That  i s  why they d id  no t  pursue the  

arb i t ra t ion  rou te  to  the  end.   So,  in  o ther  words,  say ing  to  

me:   Cha i rperson,  in  e f fec t ,  whatever  sympathy or  

un fa i rness you may have fe l t  fo r  G lencore /OCM,  when they  

–  Mr  Ephron gave ev idence he re  and maybe whoever  e l se  20 

gave ev idence,  was misp laced because they  p laced  

themse lves in  th is  s i tua t ion  and fo r  the  s i tua t ion  tha t  they  

were  compla in ing  about ,  the  coa l  supp ly  agreement  had an  

escape rou te .   Escape rou te  be ing  to  go  to  a rb i t ra t ion  and 

then you cou ld  ge t  re l ie f .   But  they d id  no t  do  the i r  job .    
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 Now they wanted  Eskom to  accept  an  increase,  an  

un jus t i f ied  increase i f  the  way they pu t  –  I  mean,  cer ta in l y  

Mr  Mole fe  pu t  i t .   So ,  do  you want  to  address tha t  c r i t i c i sm 

or  those . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    Yes.   No,  no  I  do ,  I  do .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR EPHRON :    I  do .   You have ra ised numerous  po in ts ,  

Mr  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  ja .  

MR EPHRON :    So ,  I  have to  . . . [ in te rvenes]  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . them . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    . . . ra ised a  lo t  o f  po in ts  tha t  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MR EPHRON :    . . .wou ld  ind iv idua l l y  go  to  bu t  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR EPHRON :    . . . I  am happy to  do  so .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  what  I  want  you to  do  i s .   Dea l  

w i th  them to  your  sa t is fac t ion  bu t  Mr  Se leka migh t  ra ise  

ind iv idua l l y  ra ise  some o f  them bu t  dea l  w i th  them the  way  20 

you l i ke  to  dea l  w i th  them.  

MR EPHRON :    Okay.   So,  le t  me t ry  and aga in  g ive  you my 

perspect ive  in  o rder  to  re fu te  some o f  the  a l legat ions tha t  

have been made.   You have to  go  back a  s tep .   The CSA 

cont rac t  be tween  OCM and Eskom was entered in to  in  
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1993.   I t  was a  25-year  ag reement .   The peop le  tha t  

en tered in to  tha t  cont rac t  env isaged tha t  s i tua t ions and 

c i rcumstances w i l l  change over  a  per iod  o f  25-years .    

 And as  such,  they inc luded a  ha rdsh ip  prov is ion .   

When Glencore  came in to  the  company in  June or  in  March  

2012,  we s ta r ted  to  unders tand more  and more  about  the  

cont rac ts .   We,  o f  course ,  ident i f ied  tha t  there  was a  

hardsh ip  c lause.   Now,  Eskom is  a  bus iness and Glencore  

is  a  bus iness.   The cont rac t  had been runn ing  fo r  19-years .    

 The cont rac ts  spec i f i ca l l y  makes ment ion  under  10 

the  hardsh ip  p rov i s ion ,  and I  need to  read th i s  aga in  

because fo r  some reason,  peop le  seem to  fo rge t  the  

sever i t y  o f  the  s i t ua t ion .   I  am re fe r r ing  to  paragraph 12 o f  

my second s ta tement  and tha t  wou ld  be  on page 324.   A re  

you w i th  me,  Mr  Cha i rperson?  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  w i l l  ge t  there  jus t  now.   Yes,  I  am 

there .  

MR EPHRON :    So  the  CSA be tween Eskom and OCM 

inc luded a  hardsh ip  c lause wh ich  spec i f i ca l l y  p rov ided tha t  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    And tha t  i s  f rom . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    . . . f rom the  cont rac ts .   Now –  exact ly.   I t  i s  

parag raph 12.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MR EPHRON :    Yes.  
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“ In  en te r ing  i n to  th is  ag reement ,  the  pa r t ies  

dec la re  i t  to  be  the i r  in ten t ion  tha t  th is  

agreement  sha l l  ope ra te  be tween them wi th  

fa i rness and w i thout  undue hardsh ip  to  any 

par ty. . . ”  

 That  i s  the  prerequ is i te  o f  the  ha rdsh ip  c lause in  

the  CSA between  OCM and Eskom.   So on the  back  o f  tha t ,  

we ins t i tu ted  hardsh ip  and we knew tha t  i t  wou ld  be  a  long 

and ted ious labor ious lega l  p rocess w i th  Eskom.   We 

unders tood tha t .   I t  was then,  in  ea r ly  2014,  and I  am go ing  10 

to  have to  re fer  you –  we are  jump ing to  my f i rs t  s ta tement  

now,  pa ragraph 20.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR EPHRON :    And I  go ing  to  ge t  you to  a  page.   Page 4 .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Page 4?  

MR EPHRON :    Then go to  page 4 ,  paragraph 20.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

MR EPHRON :    P lease conf i rm  tha t  you are  w i th  me,  

Mr  Cha i rperson?  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  I  am.   Thank you.  20 

MR EPHRON :    Okay.   So approx imate l y  s ix  mon ths  a f te r  

the  d iscuss ions and the  hardsh ip  no t ice  had been se t ,  

Eskom then approached OCM to  suspend the  hardsh ip  

arb i t ra t ion  and to  come up w i t  a  p roposa l  to  ensure  the  

v iab i l i t y  and the  longev i ty  o f  the  mine and a t  the  same t ime 
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secu re  the  much needed coa l  requ i red  fo r  Hendr ina  Power  

S ta t ion .   Why d id  Eskom do th is?    

 In  my op in ion ,  is  tha t  Eskom rea l i sed tha t  there  

was severe  hardsh ip  be ing  incur red  by  OCM but  Eskom 

a lso  rea l i sed tha t  tha t  cont rac t  wou ld  be  coming to  an  end 

in  December  2018 and under  a  coopera t ion  ag reement ,  

wh ich  was s igned in  tha t  parag raph on the  

23 r d  o f  May 2014,  we agreed tha t  we wou ld  suspend the  

hardsh ip  in  the  hope tha t  we cou ld  negot ia te  te rms where  

the  or ig ina l  idea ,  and i t  i s  no t  exact ly  wr i t ten  in  these 10 

words in  my s ta tement ,  was tha t  we wou ld  recover  ou r  

cos ts  fo r  the  per iod  2014 to  2018 and then we  wou ld  

expend the  cont rac ts  w i th  Eskom at  advantageous pr ices  to  

Eskom for  the  pe r iod  2010 to  2023 or  2024.   So we wou ld  

l i ke  to  see i t  as  a  w in-w in .    

 A t  the  same t ime,  there  were  a  number  o f  pena l t ies  

and a  number  o f  o ther  th ings wh ich  we were  hop ing  to  

inco rpora te  w i th  some reso lve  and se t t lement  on  tha t .   So 

when we looked a t  th is  and we sa id :   Can th is  work?   When 

Eskom looked a t  i t ,  they  sa id  maybe there  wou ld  be  some 20 

upf ron t  payment  in  te rms o f  pay ing  a  h igher  p r ice  in  the  

in te r im to  ensure  the  v iab i l i t y  o f  the  m ine,  they wou ld  in  

tu rn  rece ive  approx imate ly  25  or  30  m i l l ion  tons  to  see  

them through to  the  end o f  the  l i fe  o f  p ro jec t  o f  the 

Hendr ina  Power  S ta t ion .    
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 O f  course ,  I  am go ing  to  add,  w i th  the  benef i t  o f  

h inds igh t ,  i t  wou ld  have been an incred ib le  dea l  fo r  Eskom 

today.   That  i s  another  i ssue.   I  am go ing  to  jump fo rward .   

When the  new management  came in to  Eskom and looked a t  

the  coopera t ion  agreement ,  i t  was the i r  dec is ion ,  they 

dec ided,  in  the i r  v iew tha t  they cou ld  no t  pay a  h igher  

amount  in  the  shor t  te rm and they wanted to  end th i s  

coopera t ion  ag reement .    

 They d id  no t  wan t  to  cont inue.   They fe l t  tha t  they  

wou ld  take  the i r  chances in  2018 and i t  was the i r  v iew tha t  10 

they d id  no t  have to  cont inue.   We fe l t  tha t  i t  was unfa i r.   

We fe l t  tha t  i t  was un reasonab le .   We exp la ined i t  to  them 

in  the  best  poss ib le  te rm tha t  we cou ld .   We had meet ings.   

We sent  le t te rs .    

 We opened up the  books o f  Opt imum to  show them 

the  ha rdsh ip .   We showed them what  was happen ing  in  the  

m ine.   Need less  to  say,  we rece ived a  le t te r  f rom Eskom,  

parag raph 36 o f  my f i rs t  s ta tement .   I t  i s  page 9 .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  have got  i t .  

MR EPHRON :    We rece ived the  le t te r  on  the  22n d  o f  June  20 

where  Eskom ind ica ted  tha t  they no  longer  w ish  to  

par t i c i pa te  in  t he  se t t lement  p rocess and tha t  the  

coopera t ion  ag reement ,  essent ia l l y,  ended a t  tha t  po in t  in  

t ime.   And I  go  on  –  we go on to  say in  parag raph 37 :  

“Whi le  G lencore  and OCM unders tood tha t  
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Mr  Mole fe  was en t i t led  to  h is  pos i t ion  and how 

tha t  pos i t ion  m ight  benef i t  in  the  very  shor t  

te rm,  tha t  Eskom wou ld  rece ive  low coa l  

p r ices ,  we fe l t  tha t  Mr  Mole fe ’s  pos i t ion  d id  no t  

necessar i l y  apprec ia te  the  r i sk  tha t  Eskom 

face a f te r  2012  where  they wou ld  have no 

secur i t y  o f  coa l  supp ly  fo r  the  m ine wh ich  was 

loca ted ve ry  c lose  to  the  Hendr ina  Power  

S ta t ion  and there fore  wou ld  be  in  a  ve ry  weak 

negot ia t ing  pos i t ion . . . ”  10 

 That  be ing  sa id ,  tha t  was Eskom’s  response.   And  

tha t  was sent  on  the  22 n d  o f  June 2015.   I  now re fe r  you to  

parag raph 39.   The very  next  day,  G lencore  re- invoke and 

re ins t i tu ted  the  hardsh ip  arb i t ra t ion  the  very  next  day.   A t  

no  s tage was Glencore  go ing  to  g ive  up  on the  hardsh ip .   

A t  no  s tage.    

 So the  a l legat ions tha t  G lencore  was not  go ing  to  

go  down the  hardsh ip  road.   There  is  abso lu te ly  no  doubt  

in  anyone ’s  m ind,  inc lud ing  the  members ,  inc lud ing  the  

d i rec torsh ip  o f  Eskom tha t  Opt imum was su f fe r i ng  severe  20 

hardsh ip .   Eskom made a  dec i s ion .   Eskom dec ided tha t  

th is  was  not  the  road  to  go  down.   They d id  no t  wan t  to  an  

oppor tune(?)  dea l  fo r  Opt imum.   They on ly  wanted to  wor ry  

about  the  shor t  te rm.    

 A t  the  same t ime ,  there  was a  hardsh ip  prov i s ion ,  
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hav ing  gone down the  road o f  hardsh ip  o f  a rb i t ra t ion ,  cou ld  

have gone e i the r  way.   Of  course ,  as  a rb i t ra t ions  can 

a lways go e i the r  way but  we fe l t  we had a  more  than 

reasonab le  chance o f  succeed ing  in  a rb i t ra t ion  and tha t  i s  

the  crux  o f  the  s to ry.    

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MR EPHRON :    Mr  Se leka,  I  am sure  I  have touched on a  

lo t  o f  po in ts  tha t  you want  to  jump in  on .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  Mr  Ephron.   Mr  Se leka is  look ing  a t  

me because I  asked the  quest ion .   [ laughs]   He is  look ing  10 

a t  me.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    . . .want  to .   [ laughs]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    I t  seems to  me tha t  you have become the  

ev idence leader,  Mr  Cha i rperson.   [ laughs]  

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughs]   Wel l ,  you might  no t  be  –  you 

probab ly  mean tha t  we l l  bu t  there  may be o thers  who do 

not  mean i t  we l l .   [ laughs]  

MR EPHRON :    I  do .   Of  course .  

CHAIRPERSON :    So the  f i rs t  –  bu t  the  f i rs t  t ime 20 

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    O f  course .  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . you  invoked the  ha rdsh ip  c lause,  was 

i t  2013 or  was i t  –  when was i t?  

MR EPHRON :    Cor rec t .   I t  was Ju ly. . .  The  
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13 t h  o f  Ju ly  2013.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   And the  coopera t ion  agreement  

was s igned when? 

MR EPHRON :    I t  was s igned in  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Not  necessar i l y  the  exact  da te ,  jus t  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    The 23 r d  o f  –  I  have got  the  exact  da te .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR EPHRON :    The 23 r d  o f  May 2014.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r igh t .   So i t  m igh t  be  fa i r  to  say,  10 

there  may have been a round a  year,  c lose  to  a  year  o r  

thereabout  when the  coopera t ion  agreement  was s igned i f  

you ca lcu la te  f rom when you had invoked the  hardsh ip  

c lause fo r  the  f i rs t  t ime.   I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR EPHRON :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  m igh t  be  less  than a  year  bu t  c lose  to  

tha t .   Ja .   Okay,  a l r igh t .   Now you . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    Yes,  and the  arb i t ra t ion  proceed ings were  

go ing  ahead dur ing  tha t  t ime.   And I  need to  re i te ra te  tha t  

Eskom approached OCM in  ear l y  2014.   We on ly  s igned the  20 

coopera t ion  agreement  on  the  23 r d  o f  May 2014 but  ear ly  

2014,  as  per  my paragraph 20,  tha t  i s  when  Eskom 

approached OCM to  suspend the  hardsh ip .  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  are  you say ing  tha t  a f te r  the  

invocat ion  o f  the  hardsh ip  c lause by  OCM in  2013 the  
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p rocess tha t  wou ld  have led  to  a rb i t ra t ion  cont inued wh i le  

d iscuss ions or  negot ia t ions  were  go ing  on between OCM 

and Eskom but  be fore  the  arb i t ra t ion  cou ld  happen,  the  two  

par t ies  conc luded  the  coopera t ion  agreement .   I s  tha t  what  

you say?  

MR EPHRON:    Yes,  a f te r  Eskom approached SCM,  tha t  i s  

exact ly  what  happened.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes and then the  coopera t ion  agreement   

suspended the  hardsh ip  c lause and then tha t  wen t  up  to  –  

i s  i t  2015 when the  coopera t ion  ag reement  was cance l led?  10 

MR EPHRON:    Yes,  22  June 2015 .   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes and therea f te r  I  th ink  you sa id  the  

fo l low ing day you ,  OCM,  re - invoked the  hardsh ip  c lause,  i s  

tha t  r igh t?  

MR EPHRON:    That  i s  co r rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes and before  Mr  Se leka asks you the  

quest ions he  is  go ing  to  ask ,  can you ind ica te  to  me 

whethe r  when OCM re- invoked the  hardsh ip  c lause a f te r  

the  cance l la t ion  o f  the  coopera t ion  agreement  d id  tha t  

mean tha t  cont inuat ion  o f  the  process tha t  had been 20 

suspended when the  coopera t ion  agreement  was s igned or  

d id  i t  mean invok ing  the  ha rdsh ip  c lause f rom the  

beg inn ing?  In  o ther  words,  s ta r t ing  the  process a f resh or  

i s  tha t  someth ing  you cannot  remember?  

MR EPHRON:    No,  i t  –  no ,  I  can reca l l  exact ly,  i t  was not  
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s ta r t ing  a f resh.   Every th ing  tha t  had been done  a l ready 

f rom Ju ly  2013,  we had jus t  cont inued.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR EPHRON:    In  fac t  we had se t  down dates  fo r  

a rb i t ra t ion  fo r  a  year  hence wh ich  was the  16  to  the  27  

May 2016.   So we were  t ry ing  as  much as  we cou ld  to  

speed up the  process.   Of  course ,  Eskom was t ry ing  as  

much as  they cou ld  to  s low down the  process.  

CHAIRPERSON :    What  then led  to  –  why d id  the  process 

no t  reach ac tua l  a rb i t ra t ion  i f  i t  –  in  o ther  words 10 

…[ in tervenes]  

MR EPHRON:    Because the  company went  in to  bus iness  

rescue.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   And tha t ,  o f  course ,  …[ in tervenes]  

MR EPHRON:    The company went  in to  bus iness rescue  

la te r  tha t  year.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  i s  th is  la te r  in  2015?  

MR EPHRON:    Cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   The company go ing  in to  bus iness  

rescue was,  as  I  reca l l ,  OCM/Glencore ’s  dec i s ion ,  i s  tha t  20 

cor rec t?  

MR EPHRON:    Wel l ,  i t  was a l l  the  shareho lders .  

CHAIRPERSON :    A l l ,  the  share  –  ja .  

MR EPHRON:    I t  was a l l  the  shareho lde rs  o f  OCH wou ld  

have made tha t  dec i s ion .  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Yes bu t  …[ in tervenes]  

MR EPHRON:    Not  jus t . . .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  what  I  am high l igh t ing  is  tha t  i t  was  

not  a  s i tua t ion  where  some th i rd  par ty,  maybe o f  OCM,  

in i t ia ted  tha t .   That  was not  the  s i tua t ion .  

MR EPHRON:    Wel l ,  there  were  c i rcumstances –  the  board  

dec is ion  –  the  board  o f  OCH and  OCM wou ld  have made 

the  dec is ion  bu t  i t  wou ld  have  come as a  resu l t  o f  

c i rcumstances w i th in  the  company,  so  i t  was not  f rom an  

outs ide  pa r ty.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Mr  Se leka?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes,  thank you,  Cha i r.   I  th ink  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  leave a  lo t  o f  quest ions to  you.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    No,  no ,  tha t  i s  f ine ,  peop le  must  

unders tand th is  i s  an  inqu is i to r i a l  invest iga t ion ,  Cha i r,  so  

when you ask  quest ions,  you a re  no t  necessar i l y  tak ing  

over  f rom the  ev idence leaders ,  you are  work ing  w i th  them.   

Mr  Ephron,  I  am go ing  to  –  le t  us  see whether  I  am not  

d is tu rb ing  tha t  sequence but  there  is  an  issue here  in  20 

regard  to  the  ha rdsh ip .   The invocat ion  o f  the  hardsh ip  

c lause and the  re fer ra l  o f  the  mat te r  to  a rb i t ra t ion ,  tha t  the  

knowledge on your  par t  –  and I  am put t ing  a  vers ion  to  you 

f rom one o f  the  w i tnesses,  was tha t  you cou ld  no t  p reva i l  

in  the  arb i t ra t ion  because o f  the  reason why you invoked 
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the  hardsh ip  c lause wh ich  was the  expor t  marke t  was down 

and you had c losed your  expor t  marke t  component  o f  the  

m ine.    

The ag reement  spec i f i ca l l y  says in  c lause 27 tha t  

expor t  –  the  downtu rn  in  the  expor t  market  i s  no t  the  

reason to  invoke  the  hardsh ip  c lause.   Now I  want  you to  

comment  on  tha t  because i f  tha t  was the  reason,  the  

a l legat ion  is  tha t  you then knew tha t  you wou ld  no t  

succeed in  the  hardsh ip  arb i t ra t ion  and tha t  i s  why  you d id  

no t  pursue i t .   Yes?  10 

MR EPHRON:    That  i s  no t  the  reason.   The reason why the  

hardsh ip  was invoked was because the  pr ice  esca la t ion  

mechan ism in  the  cont rac t  was not  re f lec t i ve  o f  the  cur ren t  

s i tua t ion  w i th  respect  to  m in ing  costs  and to  be  fa i r  to  the  

peop le  tha t  en tered in to  th is  cont rac t  in  1993,  there  is  no  

way tha t  they cou ld  have env isaged tha t  the  pr ice  

esca la t ion  c lause cou ld  encapsu la te  a l l  the  necessary  

increases or  a l l  the  inc reases they had incu r red  in  m in ing  

f rom 2008 and onwards and even  before .   And,  as  such,  

every  year  in  rea l  te rms the  p r ice  tha t  the  m ine was  20 

rece iv ing  was get t ing  less  and less  as  a  resu l t  o f  the  pr i ce  

esca la t ion  ad jus tment  no t  be ing  re f lec t i ve  o f  m in ing  

in f la t ion .    

So what  then happened was tha t  the  m ine,  as  a  

s tanda lone mine,  o r  as  a  fac t ,  o r  w i th  expor t  p roduct  was  
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los ing  money.   So i t  was los ing  money on the  bas i s  o f  tha t  

fac t  tha t  th is  esca la t ion  c lause was not  rep resenta t i ve  and 

fo r  every  t ime tha t  wou ld  need supp l ied ,  the  m ine was 

los ing  a  s ign i f i can t  amount  o f  money.  

CHAIRPERSON :    What  do  you say  …[ in tervenes]  

MR EPHRON:    I  hope I  am answer ing  you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay,  I  thought  you  had not  

f in ished.  

MR EPHRON:    Wel l ,  I  hope I  am. . .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  I  thought  you had not  f in ished but  I  10 

th ink  you have,  ja .  

MR EPHRON:    No,  no ,  no ,  I  am. . .  

CHAIRPERSON :    What  do  you say  to  …[ in tervenes]  

MR EPHRON:    No,  I  am done.  

CHAIRPERSON :    What  do  you say to  the  propos i t ion  tha t  

whatever  d i f f i cu l t  s i tua t ion  OCM/Glencore  found i t se l f  

dur ing  th is  t ime was to  a  very  la rge  ex ten t  a  consequence 

o f  the  cho ice  tha t  OCM/Glencore  or  G lencore  had made 

when i t  acqu i red  cont ro l  o f  OCH and OCM not  to  ge t  to  

know –  no t  to  see th is  cont rac t ,  CSA cont rac t ,  and not  to  20 

s tudy i t  care fu l l y  and see how i t  wou ld  work  fo r  G lencore  

OCM and what  po ten t ia l  cha l lenges i t  wou ld  pose and what  

G lencore  wou ld  pu t  in  p lace  to  dea l  w i th  those cha l l enges?  

What  do  you say to  tha t  p ropos i t ion ,  to  say when you 

…[ in tervenes]  
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MR EPHRON:    Mr  Cha i rpe rson,  Mr  Cha i rperson 

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Hang on,  le t  me  f in ish ,  le t  me f in ish .   In  

o ther  words,  wha t  do  you say to  the  propos i t ion  tha t  you  

shou ld  no t  compla in  or  OCM/Glencore  shou ld  no t  compla in  

when i t  met  w i th  such cha l lenges as  you have  to ld  me 

about  because tha t  i s  what  i s  go ing  to  happen  i f  you 

acqu i re  a  company w i thout  ensur ing  tha t  you see what  

cont rac ts  i t  has  tha t  w i l l  be  b ind ing  on  you and whether  i t  

w i l l  have cha l l enges and how you w i l l  meet  those 10 

cha l lenges when they do  a r ise?  Th is  i s  a  s i tua t ion  where  

G lencore  was the  au thor  o f  i t s  own misery.   Wha t  do  you  

say to  tha t  p ropos i t ion?  

MR EPHRON:    Mr  Cha i rperson,  you are  cor rec t ,  you are  

one hundred percent  cor rec t ,  there  was a  r i sk  assoc ia ted  

w i th  en ter ing  in to  agreement  to  buy shares in  OCH wi thout  

per fo rming a  comprehens ive  due d i l igence.    

There  was a  l im i ted  due d i l igence and I  have 

exp la ined tha t  ex tens i ve ly.   Of  cou rse  we d id  no t  know the  

ex ten t  o f  the  losses tha t  were  be ing  potent ia l l y  incu r red  by 20 

Opt imum but  the  key mat te r  here-  and th i s  i s  what  peop le  

are  fo rge t t ing ,  i s  G lencore  on ly  compla ined in  te rms o f  the  

way in  wh ich  Eskom approached th is  mat te r.    

We looked a t  the  cont rac t ,  we saw tha t  there  was a  

hardsh ip  c lause and we invoked hardsh ip  under  the  r igh ts  
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o f  the  cont rac t  because we –  the  peop le  tha t  en tered in  

th is  cont rac t  env isaged tha t  there  wou ld  be  prob lems wi th  

th is  cont rac t ,  so  a l l  we d id  was we  s tepped in  and sa id  how 

can we t ry  and  amel io ra te  the  r i sk  o r  amel io ra te  the  

f inanc ia l  d i f f i cu l t y  the  shareho lders  o f  Opt imum were  

exper ienc ing  a t  tha t  po in t  in  t ime us ing  a  cont rac tua l  bas is  

to  do  so .   That  cont rac tua l  bas is  was a  hardsh ip  c lause.    

Now,  i f  Eskom fe l t  tha t  tha t  was not  what  they  

wanted to  do  or  no t  the  road tha t  they want  to  go  down or  

they fe l t  tha t  i t  was unfa i r  tha t  we  invoked tha t ,  we l l ,  tha t  10 

was s i t t ing  in  the  cont rac t  so  tha t  was a  mechan ism tha t  

we dec ided a f te r  the  fac t  to  use to  reduce the  amount  o f  

f inanc ia l  hardsh ip  we were  incu r r ing .  

 A t  the  same t ime,  we put  a  p roposa l  to  Eskom tha t  

sa id  le t  us  ex tend  the  cont rac t ,  le t  us  t ry  and make i t  in to  a 

w in-w in  bu t  we need to  do  someth ing  because r igh t  now we 

are  fund ing  th is  en t i re  opera t ion  wh ich  ord inar i l y  shou ld  be  

in  l iqu ida t ion  bu t  we are  no t  because we want  to  t ry  and 

cont inue and ensure  tha t  the  m ine  supp l ies  coa l  to  Eskom.   

So we are  no t  deny ing  any o f  those fac ts .   We are  bus iness  20 

peop le ,  we came in  to  look  a t  the  m ine,  we looked  a t  the  

m ine and we saw tha t  there  was a  mechan ism tha t  a l lowed  

us ,  because we were  incur r i ng  undue hardsh ip ,  there  was a  

mechan ism tha t  a l lowed us  to  look  a t  the  cont rac t  and t ry  

and see i f  there  was a  way in  wh ich  we cou ld  reduce the  
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hardsh ip  fo r  the  m ine.   That  i s  a l l  we d id .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l  …[ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON:    Now,  the re  is  another  i ssue regard ing  

whethe r  there  was male  f ides  o r  whether  there  was –  

whethe r  we can compla in  or  no t  compla in ,  we are  no t  here  

to  compla in .   We are  no t  he re  to  compla in ,  i f  Eskom’s  – i f  

tha t  was Eskom’s  dec is ion ,  tha t  was the i r  cho ice .   That  

was what  we had to  l i ve  w i th .    We re ins t i tu ted  the  

hardsh ip  c lause,  we had re ins t i tu ted  –  we had dates  se t  fo r  

hardsh ip  and we  were  go ing  to  cont inue down tha t  road,  10 

tha t  was the  in ten t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  o f  course  a l l  o f  th is  a r ises ,  a t  leas t  

in  par t  because  Mr  Br ian  Mole fe  says in  e f fec t ,  i f  no t  

express ly,  tha t  he  or  h is  management  a f te r  he  came to  

Eskom is  po r t rayed as  hav ing  been harsh  o r  undu ly  harsh  

in  h is  approach to  G lencore ,  Eskom,  in  regard  to  the  issue 

o f  increas ing  the  pr i ce  as  requested or  p roposed by  

G lencore .   I t  sa id  tha t  p r io r  to  h i s  a r r i va l  a t  Eskom in  Apr i l  

2015 the  management  o f  Eskom had had d iscuss ions w i th  

G lencore /OCM,  they had reached an coopera t ion  20 

agreement  in  te rms o f  wh ich  –  and wh ich  I  th ink  you sa id  

when you gave ev idence prev ious ly,  in  te rms o f  wh ich  a l l  

these s t ruc tu res  w i th in  -  management  s t ruc tures  w i th in  

Eskom who had  anyth ing  to  do  w i th  the  coopera t ion  

agreement  and w i th  the  –  I  th ink  pr ice  you were  propos ing ,  
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they  seemed to  be  amenab le  or  they were  agreeab le  un t i l  

Mr  Mole fe  came and when he came,  a l l  o f  tha t  changed.   

So he is  say ing  I  am not  deny ing  tha t  I  took  a  f i rm s tand  

aga ins t  increas ing  the  coa l  p r ice  and I  w i l l  no t  apo log i se  

fo r  tha t  pos i t ion  tha t  I  took .    

He says I  took  tha t  pos i t ion  in  the  in te res t  o f  

Eskom.   There  was no way Eskom cou ld  a f fo rd  tha t  

increase and he says ac tua l l y  tha t  p roposa l  was un jus t i f ied  

and i t  i s  un fa i r  tha t  dec i s ions tha t  I  made o r  dec i s ions tha t  

my team made shou ld  be  v iewed  as  dec is ions tha t  were  10 

a imed a t  undu ly  be ing  ha rsh  on  G lencore /OCM because 

maybe we were  want ing  to  ass is t  another  par ty,  we wanted  

to  pu t  OCM or  G lencore  in  a  d i f f i cu l t  pos i t ion  to  fac i l i ta te  

some o ther  t ransact ion .    

He says tha t  i s  no t  the  case,  he  says I  looked a t  a l l  

o f  th is ,  I  looked a t  the  agreement  and I  looked a t  Eskom’s  

f inanc ia l  s i tua t ion  and I  d id  what  I  be l ieved was r igh t  in  

te rms o f  p ro tec t ing  the  in te res t s  o f  Eskom.   You might  w ish  

to  say someth ing ,  I  am jus t  say ing  tha t  i s  the  con tex t  in  

wh ich  some o f  these issues ar ise .   You might  w ish  to  say 20 

someth ing  about  th is .  

MR EPHRON:    Yes,  su re .   So,  Mr  Cha i rman,  I  mean  tha t  i s  

Mr  Mole fe ’ s  v iew and he is  en t i t led  to  have tha t  bu t  I  th ink  

you have heard  a  substant ia l  amount  o f  tes t imony f rom 

o ther  board  members  and o the r  peop le  w i th in  Eskom tha t  
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the  approach tha t  was tak ing  was unreasonab le .   

But  there  is  no  reason fo r  me to  say or  to  t ry  and  

get  to  unders tand whether  Mr  Mole fe  fee ls  he  was r igh t  o r  

wrong,  tha t  was h is  op in ion .   I  th ink  in  h inds igh t  we can  

see exact ly  what  has happened to  the  m ine.    

The t ru th  o f  the  mat te r  i s  tha t  Mr  Mole fe  had come 

in  and w i th in  a  f ew days he  had a l ready dec ided tha t  he  

was not  go ing  to  go  ahead w i th  th is  agreement ,  in  any 

fo rm.    

The coopera t ion  agreement  had even been 10 

ex tended to  a  four th  addendum o f  the  agreement .   In  fac t  

most  o f  the  te rms  had a l ready been agreed in  te rms o f  the  

ex tens ion  o f  the  CSA unt i l  2023  and tha t  i s  in  my f i rs t  

s ta tement  parag raph 27.    

So i f  Mr  –  a t  the  end o f  the  day I  cannot  make any  

deduct ion  o f  what  Mr  Mole fe  fe l t  o r  what  the  in te rna l  

bureaucracy o f  Eskom fe l t  bu t  we sa id  f ine ,  i f  tha t  was your  

pos i t ion  then tha t  i s  what  we wou ld  have to  l i ve  w i th .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   Mr  Se leka?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Thank you,  Cha i r .   To  the  ex ten t ,  Mr  20 

Ephron,  tha t  you recommenced the  hardsh ip  arb i t ra t ion  you 

say the  next  day a f te r  the  te rm inat ion  o f  the  se t t lement  

p rocess.   You go t  da tes  in  your  s ta tement ,  16  to  27  May 

2016 wh ich  is  near l y  a  year  la te r .   Cou ld  you not  ge t  

ear l ie r  da tes  fo r  tha t  a rb i t ra t ion?  
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MR EPHRON:    Mr  Cha i rperson,  there  was jus t  –  I  mean,  

there  was –  we cou ld  no t  even get  a  meet ing  w i th  Eskom 

never  m ind a  da te .   I  mean,  we were  lucky  to  take  whatever  

we cou ld  ge t .    

Remember  tha t  be tween the  23  June 2015 and May  

2016 there  wou ld  have to  be  d i scovery ,  there  wou ld  have  

to  be  a  who le  lo t  o f  w i tness s ta tements ,  so  I  mean  we got  

those dates  and  we locked them in ,  there  was  not  a  

quest ion  o f  ge t t ing  an  a rb i t ra t ion  hear ing  sooner  than the  

16 t h  to  the  27 t h .   10 

I  can assure  you  we d id  every th ing  in  ou r  power  to  

t ry  and get  tha t  da te  sooner  and Eskom were  do ing  

every th ing  in  the i r  power  to  ge t  the  da te  la te r .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    You ear l ie r  responded  to  the  

Cha i rperson ’s  quest ion  why d id  you not  pursue the  

arb i t ra t ion  to  i t s  u l t imate  end?  Your  response was tha t  you  

–  OCM went  in to  bus iness rescue.  

MR EPHRON:    Cor rec t .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Now what  do  you say to  bo th  Mr  Mole fe  

and Mr  Koko who say we l l ,  bus iness rescue was  s imp ly  20 

used as  a  mechan ism for  you to  –  and I  mean OCM,  fo r  

OCM not  to  comp ly  w i th  the  agreement  wh ich  OCM knew i t  

cou ld  no t  te rm ina te .   So ne i ther  par ty  cou ld  cance l  the  CSA 

and fo r  OCM to  avo id  comply ing  w i th  the  CSA,  i t  then 

dec ided to  go  in to  bus iness rescue.   So i t  i s  s t ra tagem,  in  
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o ther  words,  bus iness rescue proceed ings.  

MR EPHRON:    So  I  am not  sure  what  agreement  Mr  Mole fe  

or  Mr  Koko read but  I  do  no t  know o f  any agreement  tha t  

a l low you to  ex i t .    

So  I  do  no t  know,  the  accusat ion  tha t  we rea l i sed  

tha t  we cou ld  no t  ex i t  the  agreement ,  we then went  in to  

bus iness rescue.    

Bus iness rescue was ins t i tu ted  by  the  board  o f  OCM 

and OCH as a  resu l t  o f  c i rcumstances tha t  led  up  to  the 

bus iness rescue be ing  dec lared on the  31  Ju ly.    10 

But  i f  you  a l low  me,  a f te r  the  hardsh ip  prov is ion  

had been invoked  and a f te r  we had  a  rece ived a  le t te r  f rom 

Eskom tha t  ind ica ted  tha t  there  wou ld  be  no coopera t ion  

agreement  and tha t  there  wou ld  be  no four th  addendum to 

the  CSA,  we then rece ived a  le t te r  on  the  16  Ju l y,  jus t  a  

month  l a te r,  16  Ju l y  2015.   I  wou ld  l i ke  to  po in t  you to  

parag raph 42 o f  my in i t ia l  s ta tement ,  page 10.   Sor ry,  page  

10,  so r ry.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  have got  i t .  

MR EPHRON:    OCM rece ived a  le t te r  f rom Cl i f fe  Dekker  20 

Hofmeyr  rep resent ing  Eskom demanding payment  o f  

a l leged pena l t ies  in  an  aggregate  amount  o f  R2 b i l l i on  and  

tha t  was fo r  p rev ious s iz ing  and  qua l i t y  i ssues.   These  

were  the  s i z ing  and qua l i t y  i ssues tha t  we  were  con t inua l l y  

d iscuss ing  w i th  Eskom over  the  past  th ree  years  in  o rder  to  
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come up w i th  some sor t  o f  amenab le  so lu t ion .  

 The key th ing  was not  the  pena l ty.   The pena l ty  we  

knew was not  based on anyth ing  reasonab le  and I  th ink  

tha t  there  has been some ev idence tha t  w i th in  Eskom tha t  

many peop le  w i th in  Eskom fe l t  tha t  tha t  –  the  pena l ty  o f  2  

b i l l i on  and the  request  fo r  an  immedia te  payment  o therwise 

summons w i l l  be  issued,  was comple te l y  unreasonab le  

w i th in  Eskom.   So tha t  we have g leaned f rom o the r  

ev idence and o ther  tes t imony tha t  i s  g iven to  the  

Commiss ion .  10 

 But  tha t  was not  the  issue,  the  i ssue tha t  pu t  us  

in to  bus iness rescue was the  fac t  tha t  cont inua l  pena l t ies  

wou ld  be  app l ied  aga ins t  the  cont rac t  aga ins t  any 

de l i ver ies  wh ich  was approx imate ly  3  to  350 000 tons a  

month  tha t  was be ing  supp l ied  by  OCM at  the  t ime,  tha t  

Eskom wou ld  no  l onger  be  pay ing  fo r  tha t  coa l .  

 Now we had gone down a  long road o f  exp la in ing  

and we had exper ts  and p red ic t ions  and rese rve  ind ica t ions  

and a l l  de ta i l s  regard ing  the  qua l i t ies  o f  the  coa l  and the  

qua l i t ies  o f  the  s iz ing .    20 

That  be ing  sa id ,  i t  was v i r tua l l y  imposs ib le  fo r  OCM 

to  supp ly  exact ly  as  per  the  cont rac t .   I t  was s t i l l  a  very,  

very  h igh  qua l i t y  coa l  bu t  by  the  impos i t ion  o f  the  pena l t ies  

and the  mechan ism in  the  cont rac t  a l lowed fo r  se t -o f f  

wh ich  meant  tha t  i f  we were  supposed to  ge t  R150  a  ton ,  
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Eskom wou ld  pay  us  no th ing  fo r  the  coa l ,  essent ia l l y  R1 a  

ton .    

 I  wou ld  l i ke  to  po in t  you to  paragraph 47 wh ich  is  

on  page 12.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  I  have got  i t .  

MR EPHRON:    Fur ther  male  f ides  as fa r  as  I  am 

concerned tha t  was imposed on  OCM.   Eskom wi thhe ld  

payment ,  fo r  no  reason,  o f  approx imate ly  R92 mi l l ion  wh ich  

was fo r  coa l  tha t  had  been de l i ve red fo r  the  prev ious two 

months ,  so  we …[ in tervenes]  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sor ry,  a re  you read ing  f rom 

…[ in tervenes]  

MR EPHRON:    We have got  th is  le t te r  …[ in tervenes ] .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Sor ry,  sor ry,  Mr  Ephron.  

MR EPHRON:    I  am read ing  f rom –  so  in  paragraph  47.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja?   I  am look ing  fo r  …[ in tervenes]  

MR EPHRON:    I  can  read i t  fo r  you but  bas ica l l y  what  i t  

says  is  tha t  fo r  the  month  o f  Ju ly  and the  month  o f  August  

2015,  Eskom d id  no t  pay fo r  the  coa l .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Hang on,  hang on.  20 

MR EPHRON:    Coa l  de l i vered.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Hang on,  you were  re fer r ing  to  90  –  I  

th ink  was i t  92  m i l l ion  or  someth ing  and I  was t ry ing  to  

look  a t  47  and I  cou ld  no t  see i t .  

MR EPHRON:    Yes,  so  58  mi l l ion  fo r  Ju l y .  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR EPHRON:    And 34 mi l l ion  fo r  August .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r igh t ,  cont inue?  

MR EPHRON:    So  we then knew – we knew what  was  

happen ing  w i th in  Eskom,  Eskom was jus t  t ry ing  to  pu t  the  

max imum amount  o f  p ressure  on  Opt imum.    

They sent  a  l e t te r  fo r  the  pena l t ies  o f  R2.1  b i l l i on  

wh ich  we knew was f r i vo lous.   They then purpor ted  to  no t  

pay Opt imum for  the  coa l  tha t  was  be ing  supp l ied ,  no th ing .   

Never  m ind the  hardsh ip ,  bu t  they  wou ld  no  longer  pay fo r  10 

the  coa l .   They w i thhe ld  the  money .    

So the  d i rec tors  o f  Opt imum at  tha t  po in t  in  t ime in  

o rder  no t  to  t rade reck less ly  and speak ing  to  shareho lders  

were  le f t  w i th  no  cho ice  bu t  to  p lace  the  bus iness in to  

bus iness rescue  in  the  hope tha t  the  bus iness  rescue 

prac t i t ioners  cou ld  come in  and maybe they cou ld  sa l vage 

someth ing  f rom a  d isas t rous s i tua t ion  tha t  we were  fac ing .   

That  i s  why we d id  no t  cont inue w i th  the  ha rdsh ip  c la im,  Mr  

Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sor ry ,  i f  you  sum tha t  up ,  wou ld  i t  20 

be  tha t  because o f  the  in t roduct ion  o f  the  e lement  o f  the 

R2 b i l l i on  pena l ty  c la im you fe l t  tha t  tha t  changed the  

s i tua t ion  and OCM/Glencore  wou ld  no t  be  ab le  to  dea l  w i th  

tha t  except  th rough bus iness rescue?  

MR EPHRON:    Cor rec t ,  we were  faced w i th  –  we were  up  
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aga ins t  the  ropes .   They knew we have hardsh ip ,  they had 

done fu l l  f inanc ia l  due d i l igence  on the  company,  they  

knew exact ly  what  was happen ing ,  they knew tha t  the  

hardsh ip  a rb i t ra t ion  was go ing  to  cont inue,  they s t i l l  

e lec ted  to  h i t  the  company w i th  2 .1  b i l l i on  o f  pena l t ies ,  

wh ich  they knew the  company cou ld  no t  a f fo rd  and,  in  

add i t ion  to  tha t ,  the  way wh ich  we  unders tood i t ,  was tha t  

Eskom wou ld  no t  then be pay ing  fo r  any o f  the  coa l  tha t  

was be ing  supp l ied .    

So we were  le f t  w i th  very  l i t t le  cho ice ,  Mr  10 

Cha i rperson.   Very  l i t t le  cho ice .   As  d i rec tors  we were  

rea l l y  up  aga ins t  the  wa l l .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  …[ in tervenes]  

MR EPHRON:    There  was –  we s t i l l  he ld  up  hope,  we s t i l l  

came in  and gave post -commencement  fund ing  or  post  

bus iness rescue fund ing  in  the  hope tha t  someth ing  cou ld  

be  sa lvaged by  the  bus iness rescue prac t i t ioners .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  take  i t  tha t  OCM/Glencore  when th is  

demand fo r  the  payment  o f  R2 mi l l ion  was made – R2  

b i l l i on  was made,  OCM wou ld  have looked a t  the  mer i t s  o r  20 

the  demer i t s  o f  tha t  c la im and taken lega l  adv i ce  where  

necessary  as  we l l  and wou ld  have  fo rmed a  v iew about  the  

mer i t s  o r  demer i t s  o f  such a  c la im and I  wou ld  imag ine  tha t  

i f  they  took the  v iew tha t  there  was no mer i t  in  a c la im fo r  

R2 b i l l i on ,  maybe  i t  was R1 b i l l i on ,  substant ia l l y  less  or  no t  
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va l id  a t  a l l ,  tha t  they wou ld  no t  fee l  p ressure  to  do  

anyth ing ,  they wou ld  say we l l ,  take  us  to  a rb i t ra t ion  fo r  

tha t  pena l ty  –  fo r  tha t  c la im or  t ake  us  to  cour t ,  we w i l l  

de fend tha t  –  we  are  no t  shaken by  tha t  c la im.   Am I  r igh t  

in  th ink ing  a long those l ines?  

MR EPHRON :    So  there  is  tha t .   I t  i s  a  l i t t le  b i t  more  

compl ica ted .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR EPHRON :    Because there  are  two aspects  he re .   The  

f i rs t  aspect  i s ,  we had been in  d iscuss ions w i th  Eskom to  10 

a t tempt  to  t ry  and reduce min ima l ly  some o f  the  pena l ty  

p rov is ions in  the  cont rac t  because as  demand grew over  

the  prev ious 20  years ,  the  coa l  was fu r ther  and  fu r ther  

away f rom the  p lan ts  and there  was fu r ther  and  fu r ther  

degradat ion  o f  the  mater ia l  and i t  was v i r tua l l y  imposs ib le  

fo r  Opt imum to  meet  the  exact  qua l i t y  spec i f i ca t ions .    

I  say  th is  no t  w i t h  a  p inch  o f  sa l t  bu t  the  qua l i t ies  

were  very,  very  c lose  to  what  needed to  be  supp l ied  under  

the  cont rac t  bu t  because o f  the  very  harsh  pena l t ies  tha t  

were  inc luded in  the  cont rac t  and were  a l ready under  20 

negot ia t ion  be tween OCM and Opt imum tha t  there  was  

reasonab le  chance tha t  we wou ld  no t  have to  pay  such a 

pena l ty.    

But ,  o f  course ,  i t  i s  another  lega l  obstac le  tha t  the  m ind  

wou ld  have to  face  and there  wou ld  be  poss ib i l i t y  tha t  
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some o f  i t  wou ld  have to  be  pa id .   We do not  know,  bu t  

there  wou ld  be .   A t  the  same t ime there  is  a  mechan ism in  

the  CSA tha t  a l lows OCM to  approach Eskom,  exp la in  to  

Eskom and Eskom had brought  the i r  exper ts  on to  the  m ine 

fo r  ove r  the  las t  th ree  years  and they had ag reed – I  mean  

the  Eskom techn ica l  peop le  had agreed tha t  what  Opt imum 

or  OCM was say ing  w i th  respec t  to  the  qua l i t ies  o f  the 

mater ia l  was cor rec t ,  and tha t  they cou ld  no t  meet  the  

harsh  spec i f i ca t ion  tha t  was inc luded in  the  25-year -o ld  

cont rac t .  10 

 So yes one ins tance we cou ld  de fend i t ,  i t  wou ld  be  

a  long s to ry  and  i t  wou ld  be  defendab le  and we fe l t  tha t  

maybe there  was some to  be  pa id ,  cer ta in ly  no t  R2b i l l i on .  

 The b igger  i ssue  Mr  Cha i rperson was tha t  wh i le  we 

are  wa i t ing  fo r  tha t  to  happen,  wh i le  we wa i t ing  fo r  the  

hardsh ip  to  happen,  we min ing  350,000 tons a  month  o f  

coa l ,  a l ready los ing  a  R100mi l l ion  a  month  bu t  now we are  

go ing  to  lose  R200mi l l ion  a  month  because Eskom i t  i s  no t  

pay ing  us  fo r  the  coa l .   

So you cou ld  say  i t  i s  easy dec i s ion  bu t  when you 20 

when you a re  faced w i th  such severe  hardsh ip  w i th in  a  

par t i cu la r  company,  there  comes a  po in t  in  t ime tha t  you 

reach out  to  bus iness rescue prac t i t ioners  in  the  hope tha t  

maybe they can  come up w i th  someth ing  more  su i tab le  

than you,  maybe  i t  was a  persona l i t y  c lash  between OCM 
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and Eskom and maybe anothe r  face ,  another  person wou ld  

be  ab le  to  ge t  a  be t te r  dea l .   

I  mean,  I  am sure  tha t  the re  are  dea ls  in  the  

indust ry  be ing  done as  we speak around these k ind  o f  

t ransact ions,  I  wou ld  no t  be  surpr i sed.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Maybe we shou ld  –  thank  you Mr  

Ephron,  maybe le t  us  take  the  tea  break now and then we 

w i l l  con t inue a f te r  the  break.   Le t  us  resume a t  quar te r  to ,  

i t s  twenty- f i ve  –  no ,  no  no t  twenty - f i ve  to  i t s  twenty -seven,  

twenty-e igh t  m inutes  to  twe lve ,  le ts  resume a t  quar te r  to  10 

twe lve .   We ad jou rn .   

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  le t  us  con t inue,  Mr  Se leka.   

ADV SELEKA SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   Mr  Ephron i f  I  

unders tand you cor rec t l y,  you are  say ing  OCM d id  have the  

op t ion  to  ex i t  the  coa l  supp ly  agreement?   

MR EPHRON:    No,  no t  a t  a l l .   

ADV SELEKA SC:    So  i t  d id  no t  have the  op t ion  to  ex i t  the 

coa l  supp ly  agreement  o r  to  te rm inate  i t?  20 

MR EPHRON:    No,  i t  d id  no t  have tha t  op t ion .   

ADV SELEKA SC:    Okay,  we l l ,  because…[ in te rvene]  

MR EPHRON:    Sor ry,  d id  I  no t  -  what  –  d id  I  no t  ind ica te  

tha t  there  was no  opt ion  to  ex i t .   I  mean,  what  I  ment ioned  

ear l ie r  was tha t  I  do  no t  know o f  any ag reements  tha t  a l low 
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you  jus t  to  ex i t ,  i f  you  want  to  ex i t ,  maybe there  are .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  you –  no ,  the  normal  th ing  is  tha t  

d i f fe ren t  agreements  have d i f fe ren t  o r  make d i f fe ren t  

p rov is ions,  bu t  i t  i s  qu i te  normal  fo r  an  agreement  

speak ing  in  genera l ,  I  am not  ta lk ing  about  a  coa l  supp ly  

agreement ,  necessar i l y,  to  make prov is ion  -  pa r t i cu la r ly  i f  

i t  i s  a  long te rm re la t ionsh ip ,  to  make prov is ion  fo r  any o f  

the  par t ies  to  ex i t  by  s imp ly  g iv ing  a  ce r ta in  amount  o f  

no t ice ,  a  reasonab le  no t ice  tha t  now they want  to  ge t  ou t  

o f  th is  cont rac tua l  re la t ionsh ip .  10 

And in  add i t ion ,  the  no rmal  th ing ,  and the  -  what  I  

am ta lk ing  about  i s  a  s i tua t ion  where  they do  not  need to  

b lame the  o ther  par t y  fo r  anyth ing ,  they jus t  say,  we want  

to  ex i t  fo r  our  own reasons.   No,  we are  no t  say ing  you are  

in  b reach or  anyth ing  and then,  obv ious ly,  there  wou ld  be  

a lso  c lauses to  the  e f fec t  tha t  i f  the  one pa r ty  i s  in  b reach 

o f  the  agreement  o r  cont rac t s ,  the  o ther  pa r ty,  the  innocent  

par ty,  i s  f ree  to  ex i t  the  cont rac t  by  te rm inat ing  the  

cont rac t ,  i f  the  breach is  ser ious one.  

That  i s  the  norm,  tha t  i s  what  i s  normal ,  you know.  20 

That  happens w i th  a  cont rac t  o f  employment ,  hav ing  been 

CEO you wou ld  know,  i f  you  have a  f i xed  te rm cont rac t  w i th  

a  par t i cu la r  employee,  tha t  he  o r  she is  employed fo r  X  

number  o f  yea rs  usua l l y  the  on ly  way you can -  e i ther  the  

employee o r  yourse l f  can ex i t  tha t  cont rac t  i s  i f  the  o ther  
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par t y  i s  in  b reach ,  bu t  no t  jus t  because you no longer  want  

to  because there  is  a  reason why both  par t ies  want  a  f i xed  

te rm ar rangement .  

But  i f  i t  i s  a  cont rac t  tha t  i s  o f  an  indef in i te  na tu re ,  

usua l l y  you can ex i t  by  g iv ing  no t ice  bu t  as  I  unders tand i t ,  

what  Mr  Koko was say ing  in  regard  to  the  CSA was 

because o f  how long i t  i s ,  the  dura t ion  o f  the  cont rac t ,  and 

because o f  the  impor tance o f  coa l  to  Eskom there  was no 

prov is ion  fo r  jus t  ex i t ing ,  you know,  jus t  because anybody 

wanted to  ex i t  f rom i t .   10 

Obv ious ly,  tha t  b rought  about  cer ta in ty  to  a l l ,  to  

bo th  par t ies  bu t  a lso  he  was  say ing  the  ag reement  

acknowledged tha t  there  cou ld  be  s i tua t ions where  there  

wou ld  be  hardsh ip  on  the  par t  o f  I  cannot  remember  e i ther  

s ide  or  the  supp l i e r  and tha t  i s  why a  spec ia l  p rov is ion  was 

made fo r  the  hardsh ip  c lause  because i t  was unders tood  

tha t  you cannot  have a  s i tua t ion  where  the  one par t y  fee l s  

tha t  there  i s  ha rdsh ip  bu t  they are  fo rced to  jus t  cont inue  

w i thout  any rou te  to  re l ie f  and i t  was accepted tha t  where  

the  one par ty  fee ls  tha t  there  is  hardsh ip  on  i t  tha t  has  20 

come about  in  re la t ion  to  the  cont rac ts ,  then i t  cou ld  

invoke the  hardsh ip  c lause and  tha t  wou ld  have the  

po tent ia l  o f  lead ing  to  re l ie f  tha t  wou ld  remove the  

hardsh ip  i f  they  were  successfu l  in  a rb i t ra t ion .   

So,  bu t  I  had a lso  unders tood you  to  be  suggest ing  
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tha t  there  was a  way o f  ex i t ing  bu t  I  th ink  now tha t  you  

have c la r i f ied ,  you were  say ing  you do not  know o f  

s i tua t ions where  you can jus t  ex i t ,  I  unders tood you to  be  

say ing  someth ing  d i f fe ren t  bu t  you  have c la r i f ied  tha t  your  

unders tand ing  was tha t  OCM/Glencore  cou ld  no t  jus t  ex i t  

the  CSA and tha t  i s  your  -  tha t  i s  the  unders tand ing  you  

had.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Can you exp la in  tha t?   

MR EPHRON:    Cor rec t ,  Mr  Cha i r,  i f  I  can  add…[ in te rvene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  10 

MR EPHRON:    I f  I  can  add Mr  Cha i r  in  my exper ience w i th  

Eskom over  many,  many years ,  I  have never  seen a  

cont rac t  tha t  a l lowed one pa r ty  to  ex i t ,  o f  course  under  the  

second example  tha t  you gave o f  b reach,  o f  course ,  i t  i s  a  

d i f fe ren t  s to ry  and tha t  goes i n to  a  who le  o ther  se t  o f  

lega l i t ies .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .   

MR EPHRON:    Bu t  te rms o f  un i la te ra l  te rms  o f  the 

un i la te ra l  end ing  o f  a  cont rac t ,  I  have never  seen tha t ,  I  

have never  seen tha t  a t  Eskom,  ever.   20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay,  no ,  tha t  i s  f ine ,  Mr  Se leka.  

MR EPHRON:    And there  is  no  reasonab le  way o f  any -  

there  is  no  way any reasonab le  person wou ld  jus t  – can  

deduce tha t  someone who has been in  the  indus t ry  fo r  

many years  wou ld  ever  suggest  tha t  there  wou ld  be  such a  
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con t rac t  be tween  Eskom and a  supp l ie r,  i t  does no t  make 

any sense.  

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  no ,  I  cer ta in ly  unders tand  

comple te ly,  why there  is  no  such opt ion  hav ing  heard  the  

ev idence o f  Mr  Koko and Mr  Br ian  Mole fe  and now your  

own pos i t ion ,  I  have a  comple te  unders tand ing  why there  

wou ld  be  no opt ion  in  the  cont rac t  to  un i la te ra l l y  ge t  ou t  o f  

the  cont rac ts .  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yes,  so…[ in tervene]  

MR EPHRON:    Yes,  bu t ,  sor ry,  jus t  to  -  no t  to  ha rp  bu t  the  10 

a l legat ion  tha t  one,  tha t  I  o r  we assumed tha t  there  wou ld  

be  such an opt ion  is  p reposte rous and i t  i s  b iza r re ,  

anyway.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  no  -  we l l ,  one,  I  do  no t  th ink  tha t  

e i ther  Mr  Br ian  Mole fe  or  Mr  Koko sa id  you wou ld  have 

thought  tha t  there  was such an op t ion .   What  we have sa id ,  

i s  tha t  bo th  Mr  Se leka and I  thought  tha t  you had jus t  sa id  

ear l ie r  tha t  there  was such an opt ion .   That  i s  why he 

asked you  the  quest ion ,  so  –  bu t  you have c la r i f ied  now,  

bu t  I  do  no t  want  you to  ge t  the  impress ion  tha t  i t  i s  20 

w i tnesses who sa id  tha t .  

MR EPHRON:    Okay,  okay a l l  c lea r.   

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yeah,  Mr  Ephron the  -  we l l ,  the 

a l legat ion  is  ac tua l l y  d i f fe ren t ,  now tha t  you say you cou ld  

no t ,  o r  there  was no opt ion  to  ex i t  le t  us  see how you  
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answer  th is  quest ion ,  because I  asked you ear l ie r  was tha t  

because o f  tha t  knowledge you used bus iness rescue as  a  

mechan ism to  avo id  comply ing  w i th  the  agreement?  

MR EPHRON:    Mr  Se leka,  I  th ink  I  answered tha t ,  in  my 

answer  to  the  Cha i rperson,  in  tha t  bus iness rescue was the  

f ina l  s t raw on the  camel ' s  back  in  te rms o f  the  severe  

hardsh ip  tha t  OCM was under  a t  tha t  po in t  in  t ime.   I t  had 

been -  i t  had gone th rough an  ex tens i ve  p rocess w i th  

Eskom f rom hardsh ip ,  to  coopera t ion  agreements ,  to  

addendum,  to  d iscuss ing  the  pena l t ies ,  to  ex tend ing  the  10 

cont rac t .   There  was a  s ign i f i can t  h is to ry  and i t  was the  

ca ta l ys t  o f  the  pena l t ies  and the  go ing  fo rward  o f  the  non-

payment  o f  coa l  de l i ver ies ,  we  put  the  bus iness in  

bus iness rescue because our  sha reho lders  were  no  longer  

w i l l i ng  to  fund the  bus iness on  a  month l y  bas is .   

I t  was not  -  i t  i s  jus t  we got  to  a  po in t  o f ,  in  some 

respects  no  re turn  and there  was hope tha t  dur ing  a  

bus iness rescue proceed ings,  and  tha t  i s  why there  is  such  

a  th ing  i s  tha t  a  bus iness rescue must  rescue the  company,  

and we gave the  bus iness rescue prac t i t ioners  a l l  the 20 

means tha t  they wou ld  have requ i red  in  o rder  to  hopefu l l y  

come up w i th  someth ing .   

ADV SELEKA SC:    So  your  answer  to  tha t  a l legat ion  is  

yes ,  you used i t  as  a  mechan ism to  no t  comply  w i th  the  

agreement?  
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MR EPHRON:    No,  my answer  to  t ha t  i s  no  -  my answer  to  

tha t  i s  no ,  we d id  no t  use  i t  as  a  mechan ism.  We used  

bus iness rescue  because the  company was in  f inanc ia l  

d is t ress .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  le t  me ask th is  ques t ion ,  Mr  

Ephron and maybe I  must  jus t  say  to  you,  because not  

everybody knows,  in  my ear l ie r  l i f e ,  I  was a  lawyer  in  

p rac t ice  and I  represented a  lo t  o f  t rade un ions and d id  a  

lo t  o f  labour  work .  So I  became fami l ia r  w i th  barga in ing  

be tween t rade un ions and employers  and negot ia t ions  fo r  10 

a l l  t ypes o f  th ings,  inc lud ing  wages and s t rugg les  fo r  

recogn i t ion  ag reements  and so  on ,  in  the  80 ’s  and 90 ’s .   

Between a  t rade  un ion  and an employer  there  is  a  lo t  o f  

barga in ing ,  because each one is  t ry ing  to  advance i t s  own  

in te res ts  and in  a  mature  re la t ionsh ip ,  ne i ther  wou ld  be  

t ry ing  to  dest roy  the  o the r  because they need the  o ther  o r  

a t  leas t  they th ink  they have to  l i ve  w i th  o the r.  

But  in  t ry ing  to  advance the i r  own respect ive  

in te res ts  o r  p romote  the i r  in te res t ,  they  can cause a  lo t  o f  

inconven ience fo r  the  o the r.   Each one can cause  a  lo t  o f  20 

inconven ience somet imes cause some su f fe r ing  and some 

hardsh ip .    As  a  resu l t ,  when a  t rade un ion  ca l l s  i t s  

members  ou t  on  s t r i ke ,  and they go  fo r  weeks or  months  

w i thout  wages,  tha t  some su f fe r ing ,  bu t  the  employer  can  

a lso  lock  them ou t .   
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So ,  there  can be a  lo t  o f  su f fe r ing  and the  employer  

w i l l  may go th rough su f fe r ing  when there  is  no  product ion  

because the  worke rs  a re  ou t  on  s t r i ke  and each one 

b lames the  o the r,  you know,  bu t  w i th in  tha t ,  there  is  a  lo t  

o f  room where  var ious th ings are  a l lowed to  be  done by  

bo th  par t ies  to  the  o ther  and  they w i l l  accuse each o ther  

o f  be ing  un fa i r  and so  on  but  somet imes or  most  o f  the  

t ime,  one shou ld  leave the  who le  th ing  to  them and  tha t  i s  

a  way in  wh ich  they w i l l  push each o the r  to  an  agreement  

to  compromise .   10 

Now,  when one  looks a t  the  d iscuss ions and  

negot ia t ions  be tween Eskom and OCM and Glencore  here ,  

inc lud ing  the  use  o f  the  bus iness rescue opt ion ,  whatever  

the  reason may  have been,  i f  the  agreement  d id  no t  

p rec lude Glencore /OCM f rom invok ing  the  bus iness  rescue  

process,  i t  can  be a rgued tha t  there  was noth ing  wrong 

w i th  OCM/Glencore  invok ing  the  bus iness rescue p rocess,  

i f  i t  be l ieved tha t  the  c i rcumstances requ i red  i t  to  do  so ,  

okay.  

But  i f  the  par t ies  d id  no t  want  a  supp l ie r  who is  20 

invo l ved in  a  coa l  agreement  such as  th is ,  to  vo lun tar i l y  

resor t  to  a  bus iness rescue process maybe they wou ld  

have put  tha t  in  the  ag reement  o r  maybe they wou ld  have 

sa id  be fo re  you can do tha t  the  fo l low ing s teps shou ld  be  

taken.  Maybe they wou ld  have sa id ,  we l l ,  i t  shou ld  be  a  
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s i tua t ion  where  i t  i s  a  th i rd  par ty  who puts  you in to  

bus iness rescue s i tua t ion .   

I  am not  sure  I  am jus t  open ing  my mind to  a  lo t  o f  

poss ib i l i t i es .   I s  there  any reason why when I  look  a t  a l l  o f  

th is ,  the  a l legat ions tha t  have been made by  

OCM/Glencore  aga ins t  Eskom,  par t i cu la r ly  a f te r  Mr  Br ian  

Mole fe ’s  a r r i va l ,  as  we l l  as  when I  look  a t  the  a l legat ions  

tha t  a re  made by  Eskom,  par t i cu la r ly  du r ing  Mr  Br ian  

Mole fe ’s  te rn ,  tenure  aga ins t  G lencore /OCM?   

I s  there  any reason why I  shou ld  no t  approach th is  10 

on  the  bas is  tha t  th is  was a  commerc ia l  t ransact ion  where  

each par t y  was ent i t led ,  w i th in  ce r ta in  paramete rs ,  to  use 

whatever  tac t i cs  to  b r ing  pressure  on  the  o the r,  to  see 

th ings the i r  way  or  to  compromise  and reach ag reement  

w i thout  a t t r ibu t ing  any mala  f ide  to  e i ther  par t y?   Is  there  

any reason why I  shou ld  no t  approach i t  the  mat te r  in  tha t  

way?  

MR EPHRON:    Mr  Cha i rperson you know I  cannot  deduce 

what  you shou ld  be  th ink ing  o r  the  way in  wh ich  you  shou ld  

unders tand th is  bu t  -  and jus t  to  be  c lea r,  we are  no t  20 

mak ing  a l legat ions o f  ma la  f ide  because we do not  know 

mala  f ide .  We on ly  pu t t ing  fac ts  on  the  tab le  and i t  i s  fo r  

you to  come to  the  conc lus ion  o f  whether  the re  was or  

there  was not .  

But  there  are  a  lo t  o f  fac ts ,  and  there  is  a  lo t  o f  
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in fo rmat ion  a t  your  d isposa l  as  to  what  was happen ing  w i th  

th is  m ine and why so  much pressure  was be ing  put  on  th is  

m ine.   When you say you had a  lo t  o f  exper ience w i th  

un ions,  we a lso  had a  lo t  o f  exper ience w i th  un ions over  

the  years  bu t  I  a lways knew tha t  fa i rness wou ld  preva i l .   

Even though many o f  our  worke rs  went  ou t  on  s t r i ke ,  I  

a lways knew tha t  in  the  end,  we wou ld  bo th  be  reasonab le  

and come to  the  par ty.   

I f  there  i s  an  a l legat ion  to  be  made,  we do no t  

be l ieve  in  reasonab leness in  te rms o f  OCM and  Eskom 10 

because why put  so  much d i s t ress  on  a  company,  when you  

know tha t  the  company is  under  d is t ress ,  why,  fo r  what  

purpose?  There  was a  so lu t ion ,  there  was a  reason,  there  

are  cu r ren t ly  dea ls  be ing  done  in  the  indust ry  a t  the 

moment  tha t  a l lows fo r  such so lu t ions.   So why cou ld  a  

so lu t ion  no t  be  done in  2015?  So,  I  cannot…[ in te rvene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    You cannot  ass i s t  much,  ja .  

MR EPHRON:    …guide you in  te rms o f  how you want  to  –  

o f  how you shou ld  th ink  th is  th rough but  I  can on ly  I  can 

on ly  g ive  you our  vers ion  o f  the  fac ts  and where  we s tand 20 

and what  we exper ienced a t  the  t ime in  the  most  honest  

and open way tha t  we can do i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay,  Mr  Se leka.  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Bu t  on  tha t  quest ion ,  Mr  Ephron the  

execut ives  we have ment ioned Mr  Br ian  Mole fe ,  Mr  Koko 
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and I  th ink  one member  o f  the  Board ,  Dr  Ngubane d id  say 

someth ing  to  the  e f fec t  tha t  G lencore  was seek ing  to  

capture  Eskom,  you were  s t rong a rming them in to 

increas ing  the  coa l  p r ice  and tha t  i s  the  reason why there  

was some res i s tance on the i r  par t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And I  th ink  the  increase was sa id  to  

have been,  i s  i t  c lose  to  100%?  

ADV SELEKA SC:    Yeah,  i t  more  than tha t ,  i t  

was…[ in te rvene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  so  par t  o f  the  –  o f  what  was  sa id  by  10 

Mr  Br ian  Mole fe ,  Mr  Koko and Dr  Ngubane is  look  a t  the  

increase tha t  G lencore  wanted us  to  agree to ,  look  a t  the 

amount .   How cou ld  we agree to  such an amount  i f  we were  

rea l l y  to  ac t ,  and  be seen to  be  ac t ing  in  the  in te res ts  o f  

Eskom.   You want  to  dea l  w i th  tha t?  

MR EPHRON:    Sure ,  Mr  Cha i rpe rson they have the i r  v iew 

on the  pr i ce  i nc rease,  the  pr i ce  i ncrease in  fac t  the  f ina l  

p r ice  increase tha t  we gave was,  I  th ink  R300 a  ton ,  wh ich  

was,  yes ,  100% more .   I t  was a l l  in  re la t ion  to  the  costs  o f  

the  m ine.   The costs  were  eva lua ted on an open bas is  w i th  20 

Eskom’s  exper ts  to  see exact ly  what  was happen ing .   

The a l legat ion  o f  S ta te  Capture  i s  so  preposterous,  

tha t  i t  i s  very  d i f f i cu l t  to  t ry  and come up -  to  t r y  and even  

ment ioned i t  because a l l  G lencore  d id  was come in ,  they 

saw a  cont rac t  tha t  was an amount  tha t  was under  d is t ress .   
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They saw long  te rm cont rac t ,  they  saw a  hardsh ip  

invocat ion  c lause,  they saw a  c lause tha t  cou ld  re l ieve  

some o f  the  pa in ,  wh ich  was env isaged in  the  con t rac t  in  

1993 and a l l  they  in tended to  do  was invoke a  con t rac tua l  

p rov is ion  in  a  con t rac t .   

I f  tha t  i s  S ta te  Captu re ,  then I  need -  then I  

cer ta in ly  do  no t  unders tand S ta te  Captu re .   What  was in  

my mind,  how does one,  who a re  we captur ing  in  th is  

ins tance,  in  te rms o f  ask ing  fo r  a  p r ice  inc rease and I  want  

to  re i te ra te  th is ,  because i t  seems to  be  los t  a l l  the  t ime.   10 

There  was a  w in ,  w in  scenar io  in  ex tend ing  the  cont rac t  by  

an  add i t iona l  30  odd mi l l ion  o r  25  odd mi l l ion  tons  wh ich  

wou ld  see out  the  l i fe  o f  the  Hendr ina  Power  S ta t ion .   

So there  was a  w in ,  w in  scenar io ,  i t  was not  jus t  a  

one s ided d i scuss ion .  Now,  these  k ind  o f  d iscuss ions,  Mr  

Cha i rman,  a re  happen ing  every  day be tween Eskom and  

o ther  indust ry  p layers  as  we speak.   Why is  i t  okay today  

and was not  okay  in  2015 was i t  S ta te  Capture  in  2015 and 

not  today?  So I  do  no t  unders tand the  a l legat ion  and I  

s t rong ly  deny i t .   20 

CHAIRPERSON:    What  do  you say to  somebody who says  

to  you,  l i s ten ing  to  a l l  o f  th is  ev idence,  i t  seems tha t  i f  

OCM or  i f  G lencore  had done a  p roper,  maybe I  shou ld  no t  

say  proper,  a  comprehens ive  due  d i l igence,  be fo re  tak ing  

over  OCH and OCM and had seen th is  cont rac t  and had  
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done the i r  homework  proper ly  they wou ld  have rea l i sed 

tha t  in  due course ,  they wou ld  have a  prob lem because o f  

th is  p r ice  and wou ld  have s tayed away f rom OCM.  

But  because they d id  no t  do  the i r  homework  

proper ly  they d id  no t  know befo re  tak ing  over  OCH and 

OCM that  there  was th is  cont rac t ,  you d id  say tha t  you d id  

no t  know,  you had not  had s igh t  o f  th is  cont rac t .  You d id  

no t  know about  -  you d id  no t  know the  te rms  o f  th is  

cont rac t .   You d id  no t  know tha t  the  pr ice  ad jus tment  

mechan ism was one tha t  you wou ld  la te r  f ind  no t  to  be ,  I  10 

th ink  you say in  your  s ta tement  no t  to  be  he lp fu l  o r  

whatever,  i t  wou ld  no t  he lp  in  th is  s i tua t ion .   

That  i s  why you  found yourse l f  in  th is  s i tua t ion  

because you d id  no t  do  the  k ind  o f  homework  tha t  shou ld  

have been done.   What  do  you say  to  tha t?  

MR EPHRON:    F i r s t l y,  Mr  Cha i rman,  anyone even i f  

G lencore  had not  bought  th is  m ine,  whoever  had taken on 

th is  -  the  cur ren t  management  wou ld  have dec la red 

hardsh ip ,  the  cu r ren t  management  wou ld  have gone in to  

bus iness rescue,  anyth ing  cou ld  have happened.   20 

So i t  i s  d i f f i cu l t  to  go  back i n  t ime  and say,  had we 

done th is  we wou ld  have done tha t ,  I  do  no t  th ink  anyone  

is  necessar i l y  to  b lame in  tha t  ins tance we are  -  what  we  

d id  was we came in ,  there  was a  r i sk  o f  the  con t rac t ,  as  

you qu i te  cor rec t l y  po in ted  out  and  a l l  we d id  was when we  
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came in ,  we used the  cont rac tua l  te rms o f  the  cont rac t  to  

t ry  and reduce the  hardsh ip  o f  the  m ine,  tha t  was our  

in ten t ion .   

Our  in ten t ion  was not  to  come in  and change the  

pr ice  or  c lose  the  m ine tha t  does not  make any sense.   A l l  

our  in ten t ion  was to  come in  and cont inue w i th  the  

cont rac t ,  there  was no reason why we were  no t  go ing  to  

cont inue w i th  the  cont rac t .   When  we saw tha t  the re  was 

undue hardsh ip  and when we  saw tha t  there  was a  

hardsh ip  c lause,  we invoked the  hardsh ip .   10 

I  do  no t  th ink  tha t  tha t  i s  unreasonab le  in  te rms o f  

any counterpar ty  in  any cont rac t  want ing  to  do  in  a  25-year  

agreement .   So you can b lame Glencore  fo r  no t  do ing  a  fu l l  

due d i l igence,  bu t  a t  the  same t ime,  how do you  b lame 

Glencore  fo r  invok ing  a  p rov is ion  in  a  cont rac t  tha t  a l lows  

a  par t i cu la r  par ty  no t  to  endure  ha rdsh ip?   I f  -  le t  me put  i t  

to  you l i ke  th is ,  Mr  Cha i rman,  le t  us  assume tha t  there  was 

no Eskom cont rac t  and the  m ine  was endur ing  hardsh ip .   

What  wou ld  happen is  the  m ine wou ld  c lose  down.  There  is  

no  such th ing  as  you cannot  -  the  company cannot  go  in to  20 

bus iness rescue or  l iqu ida t ion .   

The company does not  make money tha t  can  

happen in  the  s i tua t ion  no t  hav ing  an  Eskom cont rac t .  We 

rea l l y,  rea l l y  pushed as  ha rd  as  we cou ld  to  t ry  and come 

up w i th  a  so lu t ion  on  a  w in ,  w in  bas is  to  ensure  tha t  the  
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m ine  cou ld  cont inue and tha t  the  power  s ta t ion  cou ld  

cont inue.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR EPHRON:    I  need to  go  back and re i te ra te ,  i f  you  look  

w i th  h inds igh t ,  look  a t  the  m ine today,  look  a t  the  power  

s ta t ion  there  is  no th ing  the re .   

CHAIRPERSON:    You see…[ in tervene]  

MR EPHRON:    So  I  ha te  us ing  h inds igh t  bu t  i t  i s  what  i t  i s  

bu t  we came in ,  we knew there  was a  r i sk .   When I  say  we 

knew there  was a  r i sk ,  we knew there  was a  r i sk  in  no t  10 

do ing  a  fu l l  due d i l igence.   G lencore  has purchased mines 

before  w i thout  do ing  such an in t r ins i c  due d i l igence but  

tha t  was one o f  the  th ings tha t  we  had to  accept .  

When we came in  and we saw tha t  there  was a  

hardsh ip  prov i s ion  we invoked i t  and a l l  we d id  was  t ry  and 

pro tec t  the  r igh t s  o f  ourse lves and  our  fe l low shareho lders .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  one,  a t  th is  s tage I  do  no t  have -  I  

have not  taken  a  v iew,  necessar i l y  to  the  e f fec t  tha t  

G lencore /OCM was wrong to  invoke the  bus iness  rescue 

process and i t  may we l l  be  tha t  i t  i s  no t  fo r  me to  say i t  20 

was r igh t  o r  wrong.   Cer ta in ly,  there  seems to  be  nobody 

who says i t  was in  b reach  o f  the  agreement  to  

G lencore /OCM to  invoke the  bus iness rescue rou te  and  as  

I  unders tand i t ,  the  agreement  d id  no t  p rec lude G lencore  

f rom do ing  so .  
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I  have ment ioned  th is  and I  th ink  you have responded but  I  

jus t  say  i t  aga in  fo r  the  sake o f  comple teness.   Wi th in  the  

contex t  o f  th is  mat te r  the  Eskom sen ior  execut ives ,  B r ian 

Mole fe  and Mr  Koko as  I  unders tand them are  s imp ly  

say ing ,  we must  no t  be  b lamed fo r  our  dec is ions  no t  to  

agree to  OCM and Glencore ’s  demand or  request  o r  

p roposa l  fo r  an  increase in  the  coa l  p r ice ,  because o f  the 

hardsh ip  tha t  G lencore  says they were  go ing  th rough  

because the  hardsh ip  and that  s i tuat ion was a consequence 

maybe in  whole or  maybe in  par t  fo r  – that  f lowed f rom thei r  10 

decis ion – the i r  e lect ion to  take over  OCM and OCH wi thout  

having done proper  due d i l igence because i f  they had done 

that  proper  due d i l igence e i ther  they would have known that  

there was a reasonable l i ke l ihood or  possib i l i ty  o f  

chal lenges because of  th is  p r ice  and maybe they would not  

be able to  use the hardship c lause to  get  the re l ie f  they 

want  and they would have stayed away or  negot ia ted 

someth ing that  would have avoided th is  s i tuat ion.    

So the count ry and the wor ld  must  not  b lame us fo r  

the decis ions we took and fo r  the approach we took.   That  I  20 

th ink i s  in  par t  a t  least  what  they are saying and I  am 

put t ing in  my own words but  I  th ink  you have responded but  

in  case you want  to  add anyth ing I  –  I  g ive you a chance.  

MR EPHRON:   Yes I  would agree wi th  your  analogy.   They 

had the i r  v iew fo r  whatever  reason that  they d id not  want  to  
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agree to  an increase in  the pr ice and they – they fe l t  that  

they needed to protect  Eskom.  I  th ink what  needs to  

happen is  you need to – you need to look at  the sequence 

of  events post  business rescue.   And you need to  look at  

the fu l l  p ic ture.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes thank you.    

MR EPHRON:   In  order  to  make an – a conclus ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR EPHRON:   Th is is  –  th is  is  chapter  1.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.   Ja.  10 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Ja.  

MR EPHRON:   There is  a  cont inuat ion of  the story.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   No thank you.  

MR EPHRON:   But  i t  is  not  –  i t  i s  not  for  me – i t  i s  not  for  

me to – i t  is  not  for  me to – to  go  through that .   You have 

substant ia l  ev idence in  f ront  o f  you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.   No,  no that  is  f ine.  

MR EPHRON:   Th is is  just  where we got  to .  This was in  our  

v iew th is  was a t ransact ion not  a  very good one but  i t  was a 

t ransact ion in  the  ord inary course of  business.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Thank you.   I  just  wanted to  make 

sure that  you have had a chance to  deal  head on wi th  what  I  

understand them to be saying.   Mr Seleka cont inue.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Thank you.  

MR EPHRON:   Absolute ly.  
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ADV SELEKA SC:   Thank you.   Mr Ephron you have 

ment ioned repeatedly that  the par t ies needed to deal  wi th  

each other  fa i r l y.   Do you th ink you were not  t reated fa i r l y  

as Glencore OCM? 

MR EPHRON:   Everyone – everyone can have the i r  due 

Advocate Seleka   You know I  do not  th ink i t  was reasonable 

in  the way in  which Eskom deal t  wi th  us but  you know that  – 

that  was the i r  due that  was the way that  they fe l t  –  that  they 

should – should deal  wi th  the mat te r.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Ja.    10 

MR EPHRON:   I  th ink in  h indsight  in  has proven to be wrong 

but  that  be ing sa id I  –  you know i t  was what  i t  was.   We – 

we deal t  wi th  i t  as best  as we could wi th  – I  can assure you 

wi th  the utmost  bona f ide ’s  at  a l l  t imes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.   Look we have speci f ica l l y  in  

looking at  the state capture features of  the t ransact ion or  

whatever  we are  invest igat ing and I  want  to  ask you the 

quest ion whether  do you th ink there was an u l ter io r  mot ive 

in  the way in  which Glencore OCM was t reated by Eskom – 

the new execut ive  at  Eskom?  Whether  then or  now… 20 

MR EPHRON:   I  cannot  answer that .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   You cannot  answer.  

MR EPHRON:   I  cannot  answer that  Advocate Seleka I  can 

only – I  can only  hope that  –  that  you guys have suff ic ient  

ev idence in  order  to  be able to  do that  but  i t  is  not  my 
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posi t ion to  answer that .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Wel l  le t  us – okay le t  us look at  what  

happens and maybe you can te l l  the Chai rperson what  

seems to be a tu rnaround in  Glencore ’s  decis ion f rom the 

3 r d  o f  September 2015 when you were ca l led to  a meet ing to  

meet  wi th  Mr Koko and Mr  Br ian  Molefe.   Do you recal l  

that?  

MR EPHRON:   Where  are  you look ing?  Can you refer  me to  

a paragraph? 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Paragraph 50 of  your  s tatement  – 10 

page… 

MR EPHRON:   50? 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes page 13 – 13.  

MR EPHRON:   Okay.   What  is  your  quest ion? 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Ja wel l  I  want  you to  expla in to  the 

Chai rperson what  is  happening f rom th is  date  onwards 

because there seems to be a turnaround or  a tu rn ing point  

in  Glencore ’s  decis ion regard ing OCM and we see th is  in  

th is  meet ing of  the 3 r d  o f  September 2015 where you are at  

Eskom.   20 

There would a lso be a meet ing  on the 24 t h  o f  

November 2015 and what  you u l t imate ly  convey to  Eskom 

as Glencore ’s  decis ion to  tak ing OCM out  of  business 

rescue.   Are these events and you can go in to the deta i l s  o f  

–  of  these meet ings fo r  the Chai rperson’s in format ion?  Do 
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they s ign i fy  a tu rn ing point  in  Glencore OCM’s pos i t ion or  

not?  

MR EPHRON:   No I  th ink –  I  th ink what  you have 

h ighl ighted Advocate Seleka is  – i s  that  a t  a l l  t imes post  the  

business rescue declarat ion Glencore was funding the  

company to cont inue to  produce coal  and to  – to  susta in 

i tse l f .    

We were hopefu l  a t  th is  po int  i t  was under the – 

under the leadership and under  the – or  the curatorsh ip or  

the business rescue pract i t ioners  were in  cont ro l  so they 10 

were deal ing wi th  most  of  these issues.    

But  the hope was that  –  that  somehow a deal  could  

be i roned out  between the business rescue pract i t ioners  

and – and Eskom.  In  fact  there are  var ious over tu res  by the  

business rescue pract i t ioners towards Eskom in order  to  t ry  

and see i f  there i s  a  way forward.  

 The meet ing of  the – I  th ink i t  was – I  am t ry ing to  

f ind that  f ina l  date.   A lo t  o f  –  there were a  lo t  o f  

c i rcumstances and there were a lo t  o f  facts between the  

t ime of  the – Glencore ’s  decis ion to  take i t  out  o f  business 20 

rescue in  – when d id you say was –  24 t h  o f  November.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

MR EPHRON:   That  i s  a l l  –  that  is  a l l  –  no not  24 t h  o f  

November – sor ry  I  cannot  seem to  f ind where – where you 

ment ion. .  
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ADV SELEKA SC:   The 3 r d  o f  September.  

MR EPHRON:   I  am t ry ing to  f ind the – yes so i t  is  jumping 

– is  i t  September?  Yes because i t  was jumping around 

qui te  s ign i f i cant ly  and there are  a lo t  o f  facts that  – in  

between so I  want  to  t ry  and respond to the second meet ing 

that  you ind icated.   Can you d i rect  me to a paragraph 

p lease? 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Oh the 24 t h  in  paragraph 72.   I  th ink –  

le t  us see –  

MR EPHRON:   No that  was a meet ing wi th  the DMR.  10 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes,  no i t  72,  73 star t  on page 18,  page 

19.    

MR EPHRON:   Yes so that  –  that  a l l  deals wi th  the Oakbay 

offer  and that  Oakbay were undergoing a due d i l igence and 

Oakbay were looking at  the mine and we – the business 

rescue pract i t ioners and a representat ive of  Glencore  met  –  

I  was not  a t  that  meet ing on the 24 t h  o f  November but  there  

was a meet ing there that  – that  –  that  the business rescue 

pract i t ioners were tak ing up wi th  Eskom wi th regards to  

Oakbay.  20 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Mr Ephron which paragraph are you at?  

MR EPHRON:   73 .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   I t  says at  –  paragraph 73 reads:  

“A meet ing was ca l led wi th  Eskom on 24 

November 2015 in  o rder  to  update them 
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regard ing the d iscussions wi th  Oakbay. ”  

 Is  that  the one? 

MR EPHRON:   That  is  the exact  one.    

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes in  that  meet ing a number o f  th ings 

were d iscussed but  the one other  th ing which I  thought  you 

would deal  wi th  for  the purposes of  the – of  in fo rming the 

Chai rperson where Mr B lankf ie ld  advised the meet ing that  

Oakbay was conduct ing a due d i l igence and that  funding 

has been secured for  OCM for  the durat ion  of  Oakbay’s due 

d i l igence per iod.  10 

MR EPHRON:   Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Can I  –  le t  me – le t  me paint  a  p ic tu re to  

you so that  you can understand what  I  am t ry ing to  ask you.   

MR EPHRON:   Sure.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   So we have looked at  a  phase which you 

say in  chapter  1 and now we – OCM is in  business rescue 

but  decis ions af ter  i t  has gone in to business rescue 

par t icu lar ly  f rom September 2015 there is  a  decis ion to  

cont inue supply ing coal  to  Eskom.  And wi th  that  there was 

a decis ion f rom – by Glencore to  fund OCM and u l t imate ly  20 

to  take i t  out  o f  business rescue.    

 That  decis ion was communicated in  th is  meet ing of  

the 24 t h  o f  November 2015 and you a lso speak about  

communicat ing i t  on the 29 t h  o f  November 2015 and then 

there is  a lso a meet ing on the 1s t  o f  December 2015 where 
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you are at  Eskom and you again communicate a decis ion of  

Glencore to  fund OCM and take i t  out  o f  business rescue.  

 You recal l  that .  

MR EPHRON:   R ight .   Yes so now you have the t iming 

s l ight ly  wrong.   So the 24 t h  o f  November  that  was not  the  

meet ing to  ind ica te to  Eskom that  we are tak ing i t  out  o f  

business rescue.   The 24 t h  o f  November 2015 meet ing was 

speci f ica l l y  wi th  Oakbay,  the business rescue prac t i t ioners,  

Eskom and Mr B lankf ie ld  as a representat i ve of  Glencore at  

the t ime and i t  was a l l  about  Oakbay’s ind icated desi re to 10 

purchase OCM.  I t  was not  about  tak ing i t  out  o f  business 

rescue – the idea was that  i f  OCM – i f  Oakbay was 

successfu l  in  buying OCM then i t  would be taken out  o f  

business rescue.  

 When I  –  when you speak about  funding – funding 

was in  p lace f rom the t ime of  business rescue.   I  need to  

re i te rate that  i f  funding was not  in  p lace af ter  business 

rescue then immediate ly  the mine would be in  l iqu idat ion.  

 So funding was in  p lace  f rom the  moment  business 

rescue star ted a l l  the way th rough unt i l  e ffect i ve ly  Oakbay 20 

took cont ro l  o f  the mine which was somet ime ear ly  in  2016.  

 So th is  f i rs t  meet ing is  – i s  –  has got  noth ing to  do  

wi th  – wi th  Glencore want ing to  take i t  out  o f  business 

rescue.    

 On the 29 t h  o f  November however,  which is  now 
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paragraph 89 that  is  a  d i f ferent  s to ry.   By that  t ime which is  

a  few days,  la te r  a  lo t  o f  th ings were moving  in  between.   I  

would l ike to  maybe read i t  to  you.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja do so.  

MR EPHRON:   I t  is  –  I  do not  – I  have just  got  to  ca l l  up the  

page number but  I  th ink you have got  paragraph 89 in  f ront  

o f  you.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   I t  is  page 22.  

MR EPHRON:   Page 22 apologies.    10 

“On the 29 t h  o f  November 2015 af te r  

Glencore OCH had decl ined the th i rd  

Oakbay offer  and had received Sect ion 54 

Not ices the Glencore team held a te lephonic  

conference to consider  i t s  opt ions regard ing 

OCM which at  tha t  s tage consisted of  le t t ing  

the BRP’s put  the mine in to l iqu idat ion i .e .  

by wi thdrawing the funding being  provided 

by Glencore of  commit t ing to  provide fu r ther  

funding to  keep the mine operat ional  so that  20 

the BRP’s could  take i t  out  o f  business 

rescue. ”  

 And I  am reading fur ther  paragraph 90.  

“Glencore ’s  decis ion was in  par t  in formed by  

i ts  analys is  of  the Opt imum business which  
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ind icated that  the addi t iona l  cost  o f  

cont inu ing to  fund and operate OCM over  i ts  

remain ing 00:15:11 mine – mine l i fe  

compared to the th i rd  Oakbay hal f  o f  

approximate ly  R1.1 b i l l ion which inc luded a 

number of  r i sk and uncer ta in  assumpt ions 

would have resul ted in  that  amount  

increasing.   However. . ”  

 And 91.  

“Despi te  the h igh  cost  o f  cont inu ing to  fund 10 

OCM Glencore decided that  the co l la te ra l  

damage of  put t ing OCM into l iqu idat ion fo r  

example the impact  on the mine’s employees 

and Glencore ’s  other  businesses would have 

been too great .   We therefore decided to  

provide fu r ther  funding commi tments to  

a l low the BRP’s to  terminate the  business 

rescue proceedings fo l lowing which OCM 

would have cont inued operat ing the mine in  

the ord inary course business. ”  20 

 So there was a  whole lo t  o f  s tuff  that  happened 

before that  that  got  us to  the point  where we said okay th is  

is  –  we have real ly  got  no choice we have to take i t  out  of  

business rescue.   And that  d id  no t  last  very long because 

the next  day i f  you cont inue reading there was – a deal  was 
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entered in to wi th  – wi th  Oakbay.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr Seleka of  course Mr Ephron has 

previously g iven evidence and today the purpose is  just  for  

h im to respond to  what  cer ta in  wi tnesses have sa id… 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   About  the Glencore/Eskom and h im and to 

c la r i fy  whatever  e lse we wish to  be c la r i f ied.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Against  that  background,  I  want  to  ask  

you whether  you are pacing yoursel f  to  f in ish  by one 10 

o ’c lock? 

ADV SELEKA SC:   Before that .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l l  r ight .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Before one Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja okay.   In  doing  so I  do want  you to  take 

h im to the c lause that  – or  c lauses that  Mr Koko referred to .   

Par t  o f  that  he may have deal t  wi th  a l ready.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  I  just  want  to  make sure I  understand 

h is  answer in  re la t ion to  the exclus ion of  the fo l lowing 20 

markets.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So ja  – so at  some stage before you f in ish  

you would need to – to  do that  ja .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   To do.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Okay cont inue.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.   So Mr  Ephron can you expla in  

th is?  So th is  is  a  decis ion where Glencore seeks or  

decides to  take OCM out  of  business rescue and to comply  

wi th  the 00:17:55.  

MR EPHRON:   Correct .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   The Coat  Supply Agreement .  

MR EPHRON:   Correct .    

ADV SELEKA SC:   A t  a  p r ice of  R150.00 per  ton.  

MR EPHRON:   Correct .  10 

ADV SELEKA SC:   When Mr Koko was here he drew the 

Chai rperson’s at tent ion to  the – to  the minutes of  a  meet ing 

where a team that  was negot ia t ing wi th  you – the team of  

Eskom negot ia t ing wi th  you was coming back to  the BTC – 

the Board Tender  Commit tee wi th  a repor t  that  they have 

negot ia ted wi th  you and you have offered OCM an amount  

of  I  th ink i t  was R268.00 per  ton to  cont inue supply ing  to  

Eskom and he sa id that  they were  prepared as the BTC to 

counter  offe r  on that  and g ive you OCM R296.00 per  ton.  

But  the team that  was negot ia t ing instead of  20 

concluding the agreement  wi th  you to  increase the pr ice of  

coal  to  R296.00 meaning h igher  than what  you even had 

offered they decided to invoke aspects to  determine your  

f inancia l  posi t ion – OCM’s f inancia l  posi t ion.    

Do you have any recol lect ion of  that  o ffe r  you had 
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made to Eskom? 

MR EPHRON:   No there is  no such offe r  and there is  no 

such counter  offe r.    I  do not  know – I  have no idea what  

you are ta lk ing about .   So the last  o ffer  we made to  Eskom 

was paragraph –  one second – on the 30 t h  o f  June 2015 

paragraph 38 that  was the f ina l  proposal .    

 We – we never  received a counter  proposal  f rom 

Eskom but  remember we – before th is  – before th is  date the 

30 t h  o f  June we a l ready had negot ia ted pr ices and under the  

Cooperat ion Agreement  and we had a l ready negot ia ted the 10 

terms of  the Fourth Addendum which was never  s igned.  

 But  we st i l l  made a fur ther  reduct ion  on the 30 t h  o f  

June the f ina l  proposal  which is  under C – CE8 we do not  

have to  go to  i t  but  i t  was R300.00 per  ton.   We never  

received a response to th is  – to  th is  offe r.   So I  am – I  

rea l ly  do not  know about  any counter  proposal  or  any 

proposal  ever  made to Glencore or  to  OCM.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Okay.   Chai r  I  can go to  th is  c lause now 

in  the agreement .   Mr Ephron p lease turn to  page 71.   On 

page 71 i t  i s  somewhere  in  the  middle of  the CSA and 20 

speci f ica l l y  deal ing wi th  c lause 27 which is  the hardship 

c lause.    

 I  have referred you to  what  is  be ing  excluded by th is  

which is  re ly ing on the export  market .   I  th ink in  your  –  are  

you there – page 71? 
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MR EPHRON:   Yes I  am here.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Paragraph 27… 

MR EPHRON:   Ja  what  c lause number?  

ADV SELEKA SC:   27.    

MR EPHRON:   27  okay I  got  i t .  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.   So 27.1 I  th ink you reproduced i t  

in  your  s tatement  but  I  want  to  refer  you to  the next  page.   

This is  a  c lause deal ing wi th  the invocat ion of  hardship.  

 In  enter ing in to th is  agreement  – para – c lause 21.  –  

27.1.  10 

“ In  enter ing in to th is  agreement  the par t ies  

declare i t  to  be the i r  in tent ion that  the i r  –  

that  th is  agreement  shal l  operate  between 

them wi th fa i rness and wi thout  undue 

hardship to  any par ty. ”  

 The next  page – c lause 27.2.  

“The provis ions of  th is  c lause shal l  apply  

where any new s i tuat ion or  c i rcumstances 

ar ise ( re levant  c i rcumstances which)”  

 And then they g ive you the c i rcumstance but  be low 20 

c lause 27.2.3 i t  reads:  

“Relevant  c i rcumstances may inc lude 

wi thout  l im i ta t ion  the imposi t ion o f  any tax,  

duty or  o ther  fee by any government  – 

governmenta l  o r  o ther  author i ty  wi th  
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execut ive power. ”  

 Then is  th is  par t .  

“But  shal l  not  inc lude any c i rcumstances 

resul t ing in  TNC being unable to  se l l  coal  in  

the export  markets. ”  

 You see that  par t .  

MR EPHRON:   Sure.  

ADV SELEKA SC:   Yes.   I  have a l ready asked you –  wel l  by 

put t ing a vers ion  to  you that  you could not  re ly  upon that  

reason or  ground to invoke the hardship c lause tha t  is  you 10 

know your  inabi l i t y  to  se l l  coal  to  the export  market… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes maybe le t  us put  i t  th is  way.   What  

was sa id here by e i ther  Mr Br ian Molefe or  Mr Koko both is  

that  your  so ca l led hardship that  –  or  OCM’s or  Glencore ’s  

so ca l led hardship that  i t  was compla in ing about  was 

brought  about  largely i f  not  exc lus ive ly  by the fact  that  you 

were no longer se l l ing coal  to  the  export  market .   That  is  

why you were going through these f inancia l  chal lenges and 

that  was not  –  that  was a c i rcumstance which fe l l  outs ide  of  

the hardship c lause of  the hard  – of  the ambi t  o f  the  20 

hardship c lause.    

So i f  you went  to  arb i t ra t ion and that  po int  was 

ra ised the  arb i t ra tor  would have been bound to  say but  I  do  

not  have ju r isd ic t ion to  – I  am now put t ing th is  in  my own 

words as I  unders tood what  they – he was seeking to  say to  
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arb i t ra te or  come to your  rescue because th is  has come 

about  because o f  a  c i rcumstance which fa l l s  outs ide the 

ambi t  o f  c lause 27.  

 I  th ink you d id answer i t  ear l ie r  on but  I  just  want  to  

make sure  that  you answer i t  w i th  an  understanding of  the  

word ing of  the c lause that  Mr Koko re l ied on.  

MR EPHRON:   Sure i f  I  can – i f  I  can answer I  mean we 

obviously looked at  th is  extensive ly.   So just  to  be c lear  

when – when hardship was invoked the mine was in  fu l l  

product ion.  10 

 So hardship was being incurred by the mine long 

before a decis ion  was taken to – to  cut  the exports .   The 

only reason why Exports  were cut  and which was done in  –  

f rom a process was star ted in  January 2015 and ended in  

Ju ly  2015 was to  reduce the losses that  Eskom was in  – 

that  Opt imum was incur r ing dur ing that  t ime.    

 So when you read the c lause and Chai r  shal l  not  

inc lude c i rcumstances resul t ing  in  TNC at  the t ime 

obviously Opt imum being unable to  se l l  coal  to  the  export  

market  that  d id  not  apply because we were se l l ing coal  in  20 

the export  market .  

 And th is  is  not  the reason why we declared hardship .   

We declared hardship on the bas is that  – that  the – that  

there were factors that  had changed in  the market  that  

resul ted in  the pr ice escala t ion factor  not  be ing  
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representat i ve of  t rue min ing in f la t ion.  

 So I  am not  sure where the  a l legat ion is  –  i s  coming 

f rom.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So are you saying that  OCM/Glencore  

cont inued to se l l  coal  to  the export  market  r ight  up to  the 

end? 

MR EPHRON:   So  – so we – we – the hardship was invoked 

af ter  obviously a  long process of  understanding the mine 

hardship was invoked in  Ju ly  2013 the mine was in  absolute 

fu l l  product ion.   50% of  the coal  was going to  expor t ,  50% 10 

of  the coal  was going to  Eskom. 

 I ts  expor ts  only ceased in  Ju ly  2015 and that  was 

only a mechanism to reduce the f inancia l  exposure that  was 

– that  had been incurred on the mine.   Because af ter  th is  

po int  actual l y  the  losses were – were s l ight ly  less .   They 

were not  – they were not  pa latable but  they were less than 

– than what  they were but  that  is  what  we d id two years  

la te r.   So… 

CHAIRPERSON:   D id – in  other  words… 

MR EPHRON:   A t  the t ime of  hardship the –  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   In  other  words are you saying there was a  

t ime when OCM/Glencore ceased sel l ing coal  to  the export  

market  and that  was in  Ju ly  2015.  

MR EPHRON:   Ja  that  was – i t  was two years.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  
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MR EPHRON:   Two years af te r  hardship was invoked ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   But  I  guess par t  o f  what  you… 

MR EPHRON:   So… 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  guess par t  o f  what  you are say ing you 

invoked the hardship c lause long before that  –  that  is  in  

2013.   A t  that  s tage . . . [ in tervenes]   

MR EPHRON:   Long before that  wi th  – wi th  – cor rect  and 

that  –  and wi th  reasons that  had noth ing to  do wi th  the  

export  market .   I t  was wi th  reasons speci f ica l ly  and 

ident i f iab le  fo r  the  Eskom. . .  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Now when you se ized to  se l l  coa l  

to  the  expor t  marke t ,  wou ld  tha t  have been a f te r  the  

te rm inat ion  o f  the  coopera t ion  ag reement  o r  be fore?  Can  

you reca l l?  

MR EPHRON :    One second.   I t  wou ld  have been be fore .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MR EPHRON :    No,  dur ing  tha t  t ime,  ac tua l l y.   Dur ing  tha t  

–  the  coopera t ion  agreement  was –  the  coopera t ion  

agreement  was cance l led  on  the  22n d  o f  June.   So we were  

go ing  th rough a t  tha t  t ime.   We were  go ing  th rough a  20 

process.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   Okay,  a l r igh t .   Le t  me ask th i s  

quest ion  and tha t  goes,  f i rs t l y,  the  issue o f  a rb i t ra t ion .   D id  

Eskom do anyth ing  to  obst ruc t  your  o r  OCM’s  and 

Glencore ’s  p rocess to  take  a rb i t ra t ion  to  f ina l i t y?   I s  there  
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any th ing  you are  say ing  Eskom d id  to  p revent  o r  undu ly  

de lay  the  –  your  journey to  f ina l  a rb i t ra t ion  on  th is  

hardsh ip  i ssue?  

MR EPHRON :    No,  I  th ink  in  the  normal  cou rse ,  they –  you 

know,  i t  i s  no t  –  i f  one take  to  then have a  hear ing  

immedia te ly.   So the  longer  you can wa i t  to  have a  hear ing ,  

the  be t te r  o f f  they  are  because you do not  do  anyth ing  un t i l  

the  hear ing  is  he ld .   So when we t r ied  to  ge t  meet ings and 

when we –  even when we sent  them a  hardsh ip  le t te r,  they  

immedia te ly  sent  back tha t  hardsh ip  le t te r  once i t  i s  10 

cor rec t  and so  on .    

 They t r ied  whatever  they cou ld  to  de lay  bu t  tha t  i s  

normal  m i t iga t ion ,  I  guess.   I  do  no t  th ink  necessar i l y  there  

were  any mala  f ides  a t  the  t ime.   I t  was jus t ,  you know,  one 

par t y  react ing  to  another  par t y ’s  over tu re  to  say tha t  we 

have hardsh ip .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.   Okay,  a l r igh t .   Mr  Se leka.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Thank you,  Cha i r.   So tha t  i s  the  –  tha t  

i s  the  c lause.   I  th ink  you have  answered,  Mr  Ephron.   

Mr  Ephron,  p lease tu rn  to  page,  j us t  to  conf i rm tha t  th is  20 

your  le t te r  invok ing  on  hardsh ip ,  page 328.   I s  t ha t  382?  

Yes.   That  w i l l  be  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    Yes,  th is  looks l i ke  i t .   Yes.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    I s  tha t  –  sor ry,  i t  s ta r ts  on  page 

. . . [ in te rvenes]  
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MR EPHRON :    Ja ,  fo r  some reason,  I  thought  i t  was the  

13 t h  o f  Ju ly  bu t  I  see i t  i s  the  3 r d  o f  Ju ly.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  th is  i s  the  2013 one?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  

MR EPHRON :    That  i s  cor rec t .   So I  thought  i t  was  –  I  had 

in  my papers  as  the  13 t h  o f  Ju ly  bu t  tha t  i s  wrong.   I t  i s  the 

3 r d  o f  Ju ly.   Th i s  i s  co r rec t .   Th i s  i s  the  document .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Were  you not  ta lk ing  about  20  Ju ly  2015 

when you sa id  tha t?  

MR EPHRON :    No,  no ,  no .   Th i s  i s  –  Advocate  Se leka 10 

about  th is  le t te r.   I  th ink  i t  was the  3 r d  o f  Ju ly  2013.   Th is  

i s  the  le t te r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  okay.  

MR EPHRON :    Th is  i s  the  exact  le t te r  we sent  th rough 

yesterday.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    So  th is  when you invoked the  hardsh ip  

c lause?  

MR EPHRON :    Cor rec t .   As  you can see,  i t  i s  an  ex tens ive  

le t te r.  20 

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.   And you  are  say ing  in  th is  le t te r  

–  we l l ,  a t  th is  s tage,  Ju ly  2013,  OCM was s t i l l  p rov id ing  

coa l  to  the  expor t  marke t?  

MR EPHRON :    Abso lu te ly.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    And i t  was on ly  in  Ju l y  . . . [ in te rvenes]  
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MR EPHRON :    . . . fu l l  p roduct ion .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Fu l l  p roduct ion .   And i t  was in  

June/Ju ly  2015 tha t  you c losed the  expor t  component  o f  

the  m ine?  

MR EPHRON :    Cor rec t .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Cha i r,  I  th ink  tha t  –  we l l ,  there  i s  one 

more  quest ion  bu t  I  do  no t  see the  documents  he re .   I  am 

go ing  to  have to  re fer  you to  a  d i f fe ren t  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Whi le  you are  do ing  tha t .   Le t  me ask  

h im a  quest ion  wh i le  you are  look ing  a t  tha t .   You sa id  in  10 

your  in i t ia l  o r  f i rs t  s ta tement ,  Mr  Ephron,  tha t  as  I  

unders tand i t ,  you  sa id  tha t  G lencore  took over  OCH and  

OCM when they d id  no t  unders tand the  pr ice  ad jus tments  

mechan isms o f  the  coa l  supp ly  agreement .    

 D id  you get  to  unders tand how tha t  p r i ce  

ad jus tment  mechan ism worked,  subsequent ly?   Or  i s  the  

pos i t ion  tha t  you never  unders tood  how they worked?  I  am 

jus t  ask ing  because you d id  no t  invoke them.  

MR EPHRON :    No . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  . . . [ in te rvenes ]  20 

MR EPHRON :    No,  no ,  no .   We immedia te ly  unders tood i t  

as  soon as  we came in .   I t  took  about  a  year,  rea l l y,  to  ge t  

to  the  bo t tom o f  i t  bu t  I  know tha t  you do not  have the  t ime 

but  i f  you  read . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  no ,  no .   Inso far  . . . [ in te rvenes]  
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MR EPHRON :    . . . you  read the  hardsh ip  doc . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Hang on.  

MR EPHRON :    I f  you  read the  hardsh ip  no t ice  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Hang on,  hang on,  Mr  Ephron  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    . . . read the  hardsh ip  no t i ce  tha t  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Hang on,  hang on,  hang on.   We do have  

the  t ime to  hear  fu l l y  what  you want  to  say in  response to  10 

what  has been sa id .  

MR EPHRON :    Oh,  okay,  okay.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  but  we . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    No,  I  was re fer r ing  to  the  fac t  tha t  there  

was an ex tens ive  hardsh ip  no t ice  document  wh ich  

Advocate  Se leka jus t  re fe r red  to  on  page 382.   So,  ja ,  i t  i s  

an  e igh t  o r  ten  page document .    

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  no  we can go to  whatever  document  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    . . .exact  appear  . . . [ in te rvenes]  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . you  want  to .  

MR EPHRON :    Th is  le t te r,  the  hardsh ip  inv i ta t ion  le t te r,  

goes to  ex tens i ve  de ta i l  o f  the  hardsh ip  reasons here  and 

the  pr ice  mechan ism in  the  cont rac t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    What  page is  tha t  le t te r?  
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MR EPHRON :    The ex tens ive . . .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I s  i t  th is  one tha t  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    A t  330 –  page th ree  –  one second.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MR EPHRON :    Page 330 –  i t  s ta r ts  on  page 332.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  the  le t te r  tha t  we were  look ing  a t  

jus t  now?   

MR EPHRON :    Yes,  tha t  i s  exact ly  –  i t  i s  328.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay,  okay.  

MR EPHRON :    I f  you  b rowse th rough tha t  le t te r,  you w i l l  10 

see . . . [ in te rvenes ]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR EPHRON :    . . . i t  goes th rough –  i t  i s  an  ex tens i ve  le t te r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR EPHRON :    I t  goes th rough a l l  the  de ta i l s  a round  

hardsh ip ,  why hardsh ip ,  what  i s  happen ing  w i th  the  

esca la t ion  o f  p r i ces ,  why the  p r ices  had done what  they  

have done.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR EPHRON :    What  has happened to  the  cos t  o f  the 20 

mines.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR EPHRON :    I t  has  go t  every th ing .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR EPHRON :    I t  has  go t  every th ing .   I t  ta lks  abou t  how i t  
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i s  ca l cu la ted .   I t  has  the  graphs.   I t  has  go t  the  PPI  

ad jus tments .   I t  has  go t  –  i t  i s  an  ex tens ive  document .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   So,  I  guess,  the  po in t  you are  

mak ing  is  tha t ,  the  read ing  o f  tha t  le t te r  w i l l  demonst ra te  

tha t  you got  to  a  s tage where  you unders tood how these 

mechan isms –  p r ice  ad jus tment  mechan isms under  the  

cont rac t  worked  but  you took a  ce r ta in  v iew o f  the i r  

u t i l i t i es .   I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR EPHRON :    Cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r igh t .   Mr  Se leka.  10 

ADV SELEKA SC :    Thank you,  Cha i r.   Okay,  th is  is  go ing  

to  lead me to  a  comple te ly  d i f fe ren t  aspect  and I  w i l l  

conc lude w i th  tha t .   I t  dea ls  w i th  the  pena l t ies ,  Mr  Ephron.    

 Because there  was an i ssue about  Eskom a l leged ly  

fa i l ing  to  no t i f y  OCM as and when they prov ided coa l  tha t  

was non-compl ian t  and as  a  resu l t ,  a l leged ly  o f  tha t  

fa i lu re ,  Eskom cou ld  no t  pu rsue cer ta in  amount  o f  

pena l t ies  aga ins t  OCM.    

 But  when Mr  Koko was he re ,  he  drew the  

Cha i rperson ’s  a t ten t ion  to  a  c lause in  the  agreement .   I  w i l l  20 

re fer  you f i rs t l y  to  tha t  one wh ich  is  on  page 49,  C lause 

9 .6  wh ich  imposed an ob l iga t ion  on  the  par t  o f  Eskom to  

g ive  month l y  no t i ces .   Le t  me know . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    Okay.    

ADV SELEKA SC :    Le t  me know when you are  there .  
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MR EPHRON :    I  am here .  

CHAIRPERSON :    He is  there .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Now,  th is  c lause requ i res  Eskom –  

we l l ,  le t  us  see –  un less  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Sor ry,  you are  a t  page 49?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    49 ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Parag raph or  c lause?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    9 .6 .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    A l r igh t .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Which  reads:  

“Un less  T &  C ’s  no t i f ied  in  wr i t ing  to  the  

cont rary  w i th in  15-days a f te r  each day ’s  

de l i very  o f  coa l ,  such coa l  sha l l  be  deemed to  

conform in  a l l  respects  to  the  spec i f i ca t ions 

and Eskom sha l l  have no c la im whatsoever  in  

regard  there to  or  a r is ing  there  f rom.  

Such not i f i ca t ion  sha l l  spec i fy  fu l l  de ta i l s  

re la t ing  to  t he  de l i very  o f  coa l  concerned 20 

inc lud ing  the  da te  o f  de l i very,  the  quant i t y  the  

coa l  concerned,  and fu l l  de ta i l s  o f  the  non-

conformi ty  o f  the  such coa l  to  these 

spec i f i ca t ions. . . ”  

 Were  you fami l ia r  w i th  th is  c lause?  
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MR EPHRON :    I  wou ld  no t  say  tha t  I  am fami l ia r  w i th  tha t  

par t i cu la r  c lause but  I  w i l l  take  i t  as  read.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Now the  se t t lement  ag reement  wh ich  

became the  second addendum to  the  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Maybe before  you go there ,  Mr  Se leka,  

can I  ask  th is  quest ion?  

ADV SELEKA SC :    [No aud ib le  rep ly ]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Do you know,  Mr  Ephron,  whether  Eskom 

d id  usua l l y  and  regu lar l y  comply  w i th  th is  requ i rement  

dur ing  the  per iod ,  le t  us  say f rom 2012 r igh t  up  to  2015 or  10 

up  to  bus iness  rescue t ime,  namely,  when you had 

de l i vered coa l  every  day,  d id  they regu lar l y  sent  no t ices  to  

ind ica te  tha t  the  coa l  d id  no t  comp ly  w i th  the  spec i f i ca t ions  

or  w i th  the  qua l i t y  o r  the  quant i t y  o r  i s  i t  someth ing  you do  

not  remember?  

MR EPHRON :    Yes,  i t  i s  a  qu i te  a  long t ime ago but  I  

th ink ,  I  do  reca l l  tha t  there  were  reasonab le  regu la r  le t te rs  

and  tha t  they re fe r red  –  they d id  no t  necessar i l y  re fe r  to  a l l  

the  qua l i t ies .   They on ly  may have re fer red  to  s i ze  i f  I  

reca l l .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR EPHRON :    So  I  cannot  seem to  reca l l  exact ly  whether  

every  month  –  bu t  what  was happen ing  was no rmal ly  i f  

there  were  some pena l t ies ,  there  was –  a  se to f f  wou ld  

app ly.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR EPHRON :    . . . in  bo th  ins tances and then spec i f i ca l l y  

the  one tha t  caused most  o f  the  prob lems wi th  the  s iz ing  

and tha t  i s  where  there  was –  tha t  i s  where  the  who le  th ing  

went  a  b i t  wayward  because i f  you want  to  se t  ou t  on  s ize  

and then Eskom is  en t i t led  to  re jec t  i t .   And whether  they  

shou ld  have re jec ted  i t  a t  the  t ime w i thout  burn ing  i t  o r  

no t ,  we do not  know.   That  wou ld  have been an assessment  

fo r  the  a rb i t ra to r  in  some so r t  o f  lega l  fo rm.   I  canno t  seem 

to  reca l l  exact ly.    10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r igh t .   Mr  Se leka.  

MR EPHRON :    Thank you,  Cha i r.   So tha t  – tha t  i s  the  

pos i t ion  in  regard  to  C lause 9 .6  bu t  then there  is  a  

se t t lement  o f  a rb i t ra t ion  wh ich  s ta r ts  on  page 303,  

Mr  Ephron.  

MR EPHRON :    One sec.    

ADV SELEKA SC :    Se t t lement  o f  a rb i t ra t ion  and second  

addendum to  the  Hendr ina  Coa l  Supp ly  Agreement .   I  see  

tha t  . . . [ in te rvenes ]  

MR EPHRON :    I  have got  i t .  20 

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes,  thank  you.   I  see  tha t  th is  

se t t lement  agreement  on  pages 317 and 318 was 

conc luded on the  12 t h  o f  Apr i l  2011 between Eskom,  

Opt imum Coa l  Ho ld ing  and Opt imum Coa l  Mine.    

MR EPHRON :    I  am wi th  you.  
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ADV SELEKA SC :    So  th is  wou ld  have been before  the  

acqu is i t ion  by  G lencore?  

MR EPHRON :    Cor rec t .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Bu t  you wou ld  have taken over  th i s  

CSA wi th  i t s  addendums to  i t  –  addenda to  i t?  

MR EPHRON :    Cor rec t .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Now le t  us  go  to  page 311.   C lause  

3 .4 .2 .   And th is  i s  under  the  head ing :   Qua l i t y  o f  Coa l .   

C lause 3 .4 .   I t  s ta r ts  on  page 310.   So,  3 .4 .2  says:  

“The pa r t ies  spec i f i ca l l y  ag ree and  record  tha t  10 

the  spreadsheet  in  respect  o f  the  qua l i t y  o f  

coa l  so ld  and de l i vered by  Opt imum to  Eskom,  

exchange between the  pa r t ies  on  a  da i l y  bas is  

w i l l  con t inue o r  const i tu te  ongo ing  compl iance  

w i th  the  prov i s ions o f  C lause 9 .6  o f  the  

CSA. . . ”  

 You fo l low tha t  p rov i s ion?  

MR EPHRON :    I  do .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Ja .   Now,  the  exp lanat ion  by  the  

w i tness,  Mr  Koko ,  was tha t  th is ,  essent ia l l y,  i f  no t  in  fac t ,  20 

maybe in  fac t ,  changes or  var ies  the  pos i t ion  in  C lause 9 .6  

in  tha t  –  and I  w i l l  add th is  on  my s ide  –  tha t  you no longer  

requ i re  to  g ive  a  no t ice  as  env i saged in  9 .6  bu t  tha t  the  

spreadsheet  he re  env isaged an ex tens ion  on  da i l y  bas is  

w i l l  const i tu te  compl iance w i th  9 .6  in  wh ich  event  
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. . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    Okay.  

ADV SELEKA SC :    . . . in  wh ich  event ,  i f  the  spreadsheet  i s  

exchanged –  and  you w i l l  te l l  us  whethe r  o r  no t  i t  was –  

tha t  means there  is  fu l l  compl iance w i th  9 .6  and Eskom,  i f  

fa i l ing  to  g ive  you not ice  as  or ig ina l l y  env isaged  in  9 .6 ,  

cannot  be  sa id  to  have wa ived the  r igh t  to  impose the  

pena l ty  o r  to  c la im tha t  amount .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Do you unders tand the  propos i t ion?  

MR EPHRON :    Ja ,  I  am jus t  no t  sure  where  you  10 

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Le t  me put  the  quest ion  th is  way,  

Mr  Ephron.   Mr  Koko sa id ,  based on th is  C lause 3 .4 .2 ,  the  

pos i t ion  was tha t  a f te r  th is  se t t lement  ag reement  re la t ing  

to  a rb i t ra t ion ,  the  pos i t ion  was tha t  Eskom was no  longer  

requ i red  to  g ive  OCM or  G lencore  no t ice  w i th in  15-days 

tha t  you r  coa l  was defec t ive  in  th is  way or  tha t  way,  

whethe r  i t  i s  quant i t y  o r  qua l i t y.    

 A l l  tha t  was requ i red  was  the  exchange o f  th is  

spreadsheet  and there fo re ,  to  the  ex ten t  tha t  anybody may 20 

have thought  tha t  you cou ld  have  sa id  t o  them when they  

pu t  up  the i r  c la im fo r  R 2  b i l l i on  pena l t ies ,  to  the  ex ten t  

tha t  anybody may have thought  you cou ld  say bu t  where  

are  your  no t ices  tha t  you served on us  in  te rms o f  C lause  

9 .6  because i f  there  are  no  such not ices  then your  c la im 
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must  fa i l .    

 You have no c la im aga ins t  us .   He was say ing  tha t  

k ind  o f  a rgument  was no longer  ava i lab le  a f te r  the  

conc lus ion  o f  the  se t t lement  agreement  because o f  C lause  

3 .4 .2 .   a l l  tha t  was requ i red  was to  show tha t  tha t  

spreadsheet  was  exchanged.   You have someth ing  to  say 

to  tha t?  

MR EPHRON :    R igh t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

MR EPHRON :    Yes,  so  I  do  no t  th ink  we ever  d isputed 10 

tha t .   So I  am not  sure  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR EPHRON :    I  am not  sure  on  what  g rounds i t  had been 

d iscussed.   So we have to  speak to  tha t  because i t  was 

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  was unders tood . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    . . . tha t  he  had p len ty  o f  g rounds in  te rms o f  

the  pena l ty  ca lcu la t ions  to  d ispute  the  pena l t ies  bu t  I  do 

no t  reca l l  d isput i ng  pena l t ies  on  the  bas i s  o f  no  no t ices  

g iven.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  okay.   No,  tha t  i s  f ine .  

MR EPHRON :    In  fac t ,  we never  go t  i t .   In  fac t ,  we never  

go t  in to  a  fo rmal  d ispute  on  the  no t ice  on  the  pena l t ies .   

We were  a lways –  the  f i rs t  t ime the  d ispute  ar i se  i s  when 

we got  the  demand le t te r  in  . . . [ in te rvenes]  
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CHAIRPERSON :    In  2015.  

MR EPHRON :    . . . in  Ju ly  2015  but  tha t  was never  a  

d ispute .   I t  was a lways –  wh ich  was a lways  under  

d iscuss ion  because Eskom were  on  s i te  a l l  the  t ime.   So 

they knew what  was happen ing  eve ry  day.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR EPHRON :    So  i t  was never  a  d ispute  on  pena l t ies .   I t  

was a lways a  d isag reement  bu t  i t  was never  a  fo rmal  

d ispute .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  10 

MR EPHRON :    So  I  am not  sure  where  tha t  comes f rom.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   No,  tha t  is  f ine .   Mr  Se leka .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    Yes.   Okay.   So the  d isagreements ,  you  

say Mr  Ephron,  to  the  Cha i rpe rson,  were  on  d i f fe ren t  

g rounds and not  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    Cor rec t .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    . . . th is  par t i cu la r  g round?  

MR EPHRON :    Cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    That  i s  what  he  is  say ing ,  ja .  

MR EPHRON :    No,  I  do  no t  reca l l .   Bu t  –  I  do  no t  reca l l .  20 

ADV SELEKA SC :    Okay.   Cha i rperson,  tha t  b r ings me to  

the  end o f  my quest ions.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV SELEKA SC :    H ’m.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Jus t  be fo re  we  f in ish ,  Mr  Ephron.   Jus t  
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to  sum up and I  know tha t  you sa id  tha t  th is  i s  dea l t  w i th ,  I  

th ink  in  the  le t te r  tha t  we looked  a t  ear l ie r  on .   Why was  

the  pr ice  ad jus tment  mechan ism in  the  CSA not  invoked by  

OCM/Glencore?  Do you want  to  jus t  in  summary jus t  dea l  

w i th  tha t?   Or  i s  i t  –  o r  te l l  me . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    Cha i rperson,  can you repeat  the  quest ion?   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR EPHRON :    I  th ink  we broke up  a  l i t t le  b i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  maybe le t  me s tar t  by  say ing .   Am I  

cor rec t  in  unders tand ing  tha t  OCM/Glencore  d id  no t  invoke  10 

the  pr ice  ad jus tment  mechan ism prov ided fo r  in  the  CSA to  

dea l  w i th  i t s  cha l l enges about  the  pr ice?   

MR EPHRON :    That  was the  bas is  o f  the  hardsh ip .   The 

mechan ism in  the  cont rac t  on  an  annua l  bas is  was the  

bas is  fo r  the  ha rdsh ip  because every  year  the  cont rac t  

wou ld  be  increased by  a  lower  amount  than  min ing  

in f la t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR EPHRON :    So i f  m in ing  in f la t ion  was 10% in  one year,  

the  cont rac t  wou ld  on ly  go  up  8%.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR EPHRON :    And the  fo l low ing year  the  same and i t  was 

every  year,  the  gap  between cos ts  and se l l ing  pr ice  was  

d im in ish ing  because o f  the  ad jus tment  mechan ism.   And 

tha t  le t te r  tha t  I  re fe r red  you to  in  –  on  . . . [ in te rvenes]  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  12  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    . . .down page 328.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR EPHRON :    I  goes in to  a l l  the  de ta i l s  a round tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   So are  you . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    So  had tha t  mechan ism been re f lec t i ve  o f  

m in ing  in f la t ion ,  there  wou ld  have been no hardsh ip  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    So ,  in  o ther  words . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    . . . s imp l is t i ca l l y.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    In  o ther  words,  a re  you say ing  the  pr ice  

ad jus tment  mechan ism in  the  coa l  supp ly  agreement  may 

have been a  good idea to  dea l  w i th  the  issue o f  increas ing  

the  pr ice  f rom t ime to  t ime but  the  prob lem wi th  th is  p r ice  

ad jus tment  mechan ism is  tha t  i t  was based on increas ing  

the  pr ice  accord ing  to  the  in f la t ion  ra te  bu t  because tha t  

OCM/Glencore  were  incur r ing  requ i red  tha t  the  p r ice  be  

ad jus ted  by  more  than tha t?   I s  t ha t  what  in  sum you are  

say ing?  

MR EPHRON :    Yes,  bu t  no t  spec i f i c  to  OCM’s  costs .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR EPHRON :    Spec i f i c  to  indust ry  in f la t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MR EPHRON :    I t  i s  no t  OCM’s  cos ts  tha t  were  never. . .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  
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MR EPHRON :    I f  one looks a t ,  l ike  the  o ther  ad jus tment  

mechan ism prac t ise  in  the  o ther  Eskom cont rac ts  a re  bas is  

what  i s  happen ing  to  the  fue l  p r i ce ,  what  i s  happen ing  to  

the  cost  o f  sa la r i es  and wages,  what  i s  happen ing  to  the 

cost  o f  m in ing  equ ipment ,  and  the  mechan ism in  the  

Opt imum cont rac t  was not  re f lec t i ve  o f  what  i s  happen ing  

in  the  market .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR EPHRON :    Not  what  i s  happen ing  a t  Opt imum.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   So,  in  o ther  words,  a re  you  say ing  10 

i t  had become unrea l i s t i c  ove r  the  years  or  a t  the 

par t i cu la r  t ime th is  mechan ism . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MR EPHRON :    Exact ly.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR EPHRON :    Over  the  years ,  exact ly,  exact ly.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r igh t .   I s  there  anyth ing  e l se  you  

wanted to  say be fore  we ad jou rn?  You are  done? 

MR EPHRON :    No,  thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    A l r igh t .  

MR EPHRON :    I  am done.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   [ laughs]  

MR EPHRON :    Thank you so  much.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Thank you very  much,  Mr  Ephron fo r  

coming back to  dea l  w i th  these mat te rs .   We are  now go ing  

to  re lease you because we have dea l t  w i th  the  quest ions 
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tha t  needed to  be  dea l t  w i th .   We are  go ing  to  ad journ  fo r  

the  day.   And then,  in  te rms o f  the  pub l i c ,  as  th ings  s tand,  

the  Commiss ion  w i l l  no t  s i t  tomor row.   I f  tha t  changes in  

the  course  o f  the  a f te rnoon,  the  pub l i c  w i l l  be  in fo rmed.    

 Otherwise ,  the  next  hear ing  w i l l  be  on  Tuesday,  

no t  in  the  morn ing  bu t  in  the  a f te rnoon a t  four  o ’ c lock  when 

I  w i l l  hear  var ious app l i ca t ions fo r  leave to  c ross-examine  

tha t  have been brought  by  var ious par t ies  whose 

app l i ca t ions have  not  ye t  been dec ided.   A f te r  tha t ,  then 

the  hear ings w i l l  con t inue on Thursday and Fr iday next  10 

week and beyond  tha t .   We ad journ .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS TO 15 JUNE 2021  

 

 

 

  


